
 

 
Telephone Enquiries: Democratic Services, (01254) 380116/380109/380184 
Email:  memberservices@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Tuesday, 9 July 2019 

Page 1 of 2  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Cabinet 
 
Wednesday, 17 July 2019 at 3.00 pm, 
Queen Elizabeth Room, Scaitcliffe House, Ormerod Street, Accrington 
 
Membership 
 
Chair: Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair) 
 
Councillors Paul Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP, Joyce Plummer, Loraine Cox and Jenny Molineux 
 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

PART A: PROCEDURAL AND INFORMATION ITEMS 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence   
 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
 

3.   Minutes of Cabinet  (Pages 3 - 12) 
 
To approve the minutes of the last meeting of the Cabinet held on 5th June 2019. 
 

4.   Minutes of Boards, Panels and Working Groups  (Pages 13 - 14) 
 
To receive the minutes of the meetings of the following bodies: 
 

Cabinet Committee (Street Naming) 20th March 2019 
 

PART B: PORTFOLIO ITEMS 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Page 2 of 2 

 

 

5.   Reports of Cabinet Members   
 
To receive reports from Cabinet Members. 
 

Leader of the Council (Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE) 
 

6.   Overview and Scrutiny Work Programmes  (Pages 15 - 26) 
 
Report attached. 
 

Portfolio Holder for Housing and Regeneration (Councillor Loraine Cox) 
 

7.   Housing Renewal Policy  (Pages 27 - 68) 
 
Report attached. 
 

Portfolio Holder for Health and Communities (Councillor Jenny Molineux) 
 

8.   Workplace Cycle Pool Scheme  (Pages 69 - 78) 
 
Report attached. 
 

PART C: EXEMPT ITEMS 
 

9.   Exclusion of the Public   
 
Recommended  That, in accordance with Section 100A(4) Local Government 

Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during the 
following items, when it is likely, in view of the nature of the 
proceedings that there will otherwise be disclosure of exempt 
information within the Paragraphs of Schedule 12A of the Act 
specified at the items. 

 
Details of any representations received by the Executive about why the following 
report should be considered in public – none received. 
 
Statement in response to any representations – not required. 
 
NIL 
 

 
 



 
1 

 
CABINET 

 

 
Wednesday, 5th June, 2019 

 
Present:  Councillor Miles Parkinson (in the Chair), Councillors Munsif Dad, 

Joyce Plummer and Jenny Molineux 
 

In Attendance: Councillors Noordad Aziz, Tony Dobson, Glen Harrison, June Harrison 
and Eamonn Higgins 

  

Apologies: Paul Cox and Loraine Cox 
 

 
20 Apologies for Absence 

 
21 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 
There were no reported declarations of interest or dispensations. 
 

22 Minutes of Cabinet 
 
The minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 20th March 2019 were submitted for 
approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved – That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct 

record. 
 

23 Minutes of Boards, Panels and Working Groups 
 
The minutes of the following meeting were submitted:- 
 

 Cabinet Committee – Street Naming – 20th March 2019 
 
Resolved – That the Minutes be received and noted. 
 

24 Accrington and Rossendale and Nelson and Colne Colleges 
 
Members received a presentation by Amana Melton, Chief Executive, Accrington and 
Rossendale and Nelson and Colne Colleges, about the vision and progress of the new 
merged college for Pennine Lancashire. 
 
Ms Melton outlined the merger of the colleges with effect from 1 December 2018 and 
explained that although the corporate body was Nelson and Colne College, both Accrington 
and Rossendale College and Nelson and Colne College were equal partners and would 
retain their separate identities.  The group also encompassed Lancashire Adult Learning, 
which had been taken on board by Nelson and Colne College in 2016.  That body looked at 
working with partners to provide development opportunities for adults in need. 
 
The background to the merger with Accrington and Rossendale College was the difficult 
financial position experienced by that college, in the wake of borrowing for investments, 
which had not ultimately improved the number of students on roll.  The college had found it 

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 3.



 
 
 

 

 
 

difficult to reduce its costs and had also suffered as a result of declining funding for adult 
education.  A proposed merger with Burnley College had not come to fruition. 
 
Subsequently, central Government had approached Nelson and Colne College to develop a 
partnership and some funding had been provided to address the legacy financial issues.  
Ms Melton was optimistic that the Accrington and Rossendale College was now on a firm 
financial footing.  The meeting today was important to the college, because it would be 
reliant on the support of key local partners, such as the Borough Council, to be successful. 
 
Ms Melton outlined her own background.  She had been Principal at Nelson and Colne 
College for some 7½ years.  It was one of the highest performing Colleges in the country 
across several metrics.  The college had a strong relationship with Pendle Borough Council 
and the local community.  It had also established a Multi-Academy Trust (MAT), the Pendle 
Education Trust, which included Colne Primet Academy, Pendle Primary Academy and 
other local schools, which were highly successful.  It was hoped to replicate those levels of 
partnership working and successes within both Accrington and Rossendale College and 
Lancashire Adult Learning. 
 
The funding secured for Accrington and Rossendale College would help to address some 
in-year financial pressures and the pension deficit.  In addition, costs were being reduced.  
Across the whole college group there was a turnover of around £30M and next year’s 
budget would create a small surplus.  The new leadership of Accrington and Rossendale 
College wished to increase the college’s market share of new students and to repair any 
reputational damage.  The college had been strong in the past and was already on the way 
back to a position of strength. 
 
An improvement programme was being developed which would support three main themes: 
 

 Improving the quality of education – addressing the challenges in the region, such 
as poor Maths skills and lack of preparedness for work; 

 

 Provision of academic qualifications; 
 

 Growing the higher education offer with part-time courses leading to HNC and HND 
level qualifications for people already in work. 

 
The approach would also build upon experience that Nelson and Colne College had 
developed though its partnerships with Burnley FC, Calico Homes and East Lancashire 
Hospitals NHS Trust.  The Council was asked to think about who were the largest 
employers in Hyndburn.  Accrington and Rossendale College would work with large 
employers to produce memoranda of understanding. 
 
Overall there was a need to work collaboratively with other colleges to manage oversupply 
in the region. 
 
Ms Melton had recently been appointed to the Lancashire Local Enterprise Partnership 
(LEP) and was Chair of the Lancashire Skills and Employment Advisory Panel.  Although it 
was early days yet, she hoped to be able to influence investment in skills in the region.  Ms 
Melton was also a member of the Council of the East Lancashire Chamber of Commerce.  
A dialogue with the Borough Council was essential to ensure the future economic success 
of the area. 
 
The Leader of the Council commented that all residents would wish to see improvements in 
the prosperity of the Borough, which would be driven through quality primary, secondary 
and tertiary education.  It was hoped that Accrington and Rossendale College would be 

Page 4



 
 
 

 

 
 

able to engage not only with large scale employers, but also with small and medium 
enterprises (SMEs) and that that would stimulate the growth of the manufacturing base 
within the region. 
 
Questions were asked by Members present and answers given, on the following matters: 
 
Given the possible oversupply of provision, would the college site remain in Accrington?  -  
Around £3.5m was due to be invested to transform and update the site to make it fit for 
purpose.  This would include the levelling of one building and upgrading of standards in the 
remaining buildings.  It was estimated that the site improvements alone would lead to a 
15% increase in student numbers.  Works had already been commissioned for 
improvements to heating and lighting and IT infrastructure.  The group’s central 
administrative offices would relocate to the Accrington and Rossendale College site.  
Improvements were planned for the Construction Centre to improve its attractiveness to 
students and to create a central hub for Lancashire.  Tim Webber MBE, Chair and 
Managing Director, Barnfield Construction, would join the Board to provide experience and 
help to build links to the construction sector.  The college would be rebranded as Accrington 
and Rossendale Technical College.  However, the timescale for remodelling was 
challenging, with Government funding required to be committed by March 2020 and 
construction completed by March 2021. 
 
What was the reason for the loss of the Catering Department at the college, given that it 
had earned a good reputation?  -  The catering provision had not gone, but would refocus 
on support for apprenticeships in that sector, as the current trend was for those students to 
go straight into employment, so as to earn money while learning.  Provision would still be 
available for people with learning disabilities to serve food in the college restaurant.  
However, overall occupancy of that part of the site was very low. 
 
Nationally there was not much money available for further/higher education.  How had this 
impacted on the College?  -  The college would focus on (i) adults who did not have 
sufficient Maths and English skills to undertake employment, to look after themselves or 
their families’ health, or to contribute economically to the region; (ii) adults who wanted to 
access higher education such as HNC and HND; and (iii) adults looking to re-skill or upskill.  
However, funding was under pressure. 
 
Did the need to borrow for student loans impact on the take up of courses?  -  Overall, it 
was not believed that the student loan system had adversely affected Accrington and 
Rossendale College, but there were issues around too many students going to university, 
but receiving a product that did not meet their needs and expectations.  A Level 4 
qualification in a college or an apprenticeship, might be a more appropriate educational 
route for those individuals. 
 
Given the lessons learned from over-borrowing and reputational damage caused, how 
would the college ensure that the situation was not repeated in the future?  --  It was 
understood that the college had increased its debt at a time when its income was falling, but 
that its business model, to spend its way out of a problem, had not worked.  The college 
had been under some pressure to deliver a new building, but that had not generated 
sufficient new students in the catering side.  The college’s current borrowing levels were 
affordable and its leadership was prepared to make savings, if necessary, to balance the 
budget.  The overhanging debt had been addressed by the Government funding. 
 
Could the college provide a centre of excellence for the health sector?  -  As a general rule 
NHS organisations were hard for colleges to engage with.  However, the East Lancashire 
Hospitals NHS Trust had a jointly funded post, which helped to provide access to temporary 
posts in areas such as IT, cleaning, porters, post rooms, and healthcare.  Nelson and Colne 

Page 5



 
 
 

 

 
 

College currently worked with the Trust to provide staff with the skills they needed, which 
might lead to wider opportunities across the college group. 
 
There had previously been an adult learning outreach site in Great Harwood.  How would 
Lancashire Adult Learning continue to operate in the current challenging financial climate?  
-  It was envisaged that Lancashire Adult Learning would continue to develop.  It was grant 
funded, but the aim was to get a better return on investment for the grant available.  The 
focus would be on going to venues where there was the greatest need, for example by 
attending primary schools where the parents themselves were unable to read.  The overall 
number of people supported to learn would not reduce, but the focus of that support might 
change. 
 
Would the college be subject to more mergers in the future, particularly in the light of strong 
competition from Burnley and Blackburn Colleges?  -  There were currently no plans for 
more mergers.  However, all East Lancashire colleges would need to work together 
strategically to plan for the future. 
 
The Leader of the Council thanked Ms Melton for her attendance and engaging 
presentation, which highlighted an exciting future for Accrington and Rossendale College.  
The Council wanted all age groups, young and old to maximise their levels of achievement.  
It was hoped to invite Ms Melton to address the meeting again at some future date and an 
offer was extended to hold the meeting at the college. 
 
There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons for rejection. 
 
Resolved – That the presentation on the future of Accrington and 

Rossendale College be noted. 
 

25 Reports of Cabinet Members 
 
The Leader of the Council reported that an item appeared later in the private part of the 
Agenda, in relation to the leasing of part of King George V Playing Fields, car park and 
associated changing pavilion to Accrington Stanley FC, but it would be useful to highlight 
some key facts in the public arena. 
 
Approval of the public report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Accrington Stanley FC had progressed a long way in the Football League and wanted to 
develop further.  The lease would bring investment into the site, including an upgraded 
playing surface.  The details of the lease were confidential, but there was an opportunity 
here to praise the club for the contribution that they had made to their home town and their 
drive to move up the League.  The Council had a good relationship with club which had 
seen development of the Crown Ground (Wham Stadium), a Sports Hub, Highams Playing 
Fields and now the King George V Playing Fields.  The Team featured regularly on 
television, which provided good publicity for the town and attracted visitors to the Borough.  
It was hoped that the new training facilities would improve the quality of football, keep 
players fit and injury free and help the club to greater glory. 
 
Councillor June Harrison commented that the site was in Barnfield Ward and that the 
residents had been supportive of the development, as the playing fields space was 
currently underused.  The Leader of the Conservative Group concurred with the sentiments 
expressed and welcomed the investment.  He had been disappointed by the initial 
proposals to build the training ground near Read, so the revised site was good news.  The 
players, club, local residents and the Council would work together to make this facility a 

Page 6



 
 
 

 

 
 

success.  This was particularly encouraging, as the asset had been struggling to find a role 
for the future. 
 
There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons for rejection. 
 
Resolved – That Cabinet noted the public report on the leasing of part of 

King George V Playing Fields, car park and associated 
changing pavilion to Accrington Stanley FC. 

 
26 Appointment of Cabinet Committees and Cabinet Groups 

 
The Leader of the Council reported on the establishment of Cabinet Committees and 
Cabinet Groups for the 2019/20 Municipal Year and the appointment of Members to the 
Committees and Groups 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
In June 2015, Cabinet established the Cabinet Committee (Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013).  
The Cabinet Committee determines whether to grant, renew, revoke or vary scrap metal 
licences pursuant to the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013, where the applicant or licensee (as 
the case may be) has informed the Council that they wish to make oral representations.  
This enables compliance with statutory requirements. 
 
In December 2017, Cabinet established the Cabinet Committee (Street Naming).  The 
Cabinet Committee discharges the Council’s functions in respect of the naming and 
renaming of streets pursuant to Sections 17 and 18 Public Health Act 1925. 
 
In June 2018 the Cabinet established the Cabinet Committee (Digital Committee).  The 
Cabinet Committee provides a forum for Cabinet to consider the impact of the digital 
economy on the Borough and its town centres in particular. 
 
In June 2015, Cabinet also established the following three Cabinet Groups, which act in an 
advisory capacity to Cabinet and do not have any delegated or decision making powers: 
 

 Accrington Pals Centenary Commemorations Group; 

 Cabinet Public Transport Group; and 

 Cabinet Waste and Recycling Group. 
 
The above Groups will continue into 2019/20, with the name of the Accrington Pals 
Centenary Commemorations Group, being amended to the Covenant Commemoration 
Working Group and the terms of reference being amended accordingly.  The change is 
intended to reflect the broader agenda of the Armed Forces Covenant, which comprises a 
pledge between public and private sector partners that together we acknowledge and 
understand that those who serve or who have served in the armed forces, and their 
families, should be treated with fairness and respect in the communities, economy and 
society they serve with their lives. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
An option not to appoint any of the proposed Panels and Groups was considered, but would 
not meet the Cabinet’s need to establish effective arrangements for the discharge of 
specialist areas of its business. 
 

Page 7



 
 
 

 

 
 

Resolved (1) That Cabinet agreed to the establishment of the Cabinet 
Committees and Cabinet Groups, and with the terms of 
reference, as set out in the Appendix to the report; and, 

 
(2) That the membership of the Cabinet Committees and 

Cabinet Groups, as set out in paragraph 3.7 of the report 
was approved. 

 
27 Financial Position - February 2019 - Outturn Report for Year Ending 31 March 2019 

 
Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, had submitted a report informing 
Cabinet of the financial spending of the Council up to the end of February 2019 and the 
financial forecast outturn position for the Accounting Year 2018/19. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The spend for the first 11 months of the financial year to the end of February 2019 is 
£9,900,378 compared to a Budget of £10,190,518 giving a positive variance of £290,000 
over the first 11 months of the year. 
 
The current forecast spend to the end of the financial year in March 2019 is £10,852,000 
compared to a Budget of £11,174,000.  This forecast produces a positive variance of 
£322,000.  Parks & Cemeteries and Planning & Transportation are predicting small adverse 
variances.  Town Centre & Markets and Regeneration & Property Services are forecasting 
larger adverse variances.  All other Budget Areas are indicating a surplus position 
compared to their Budget by the year-end. 
 
Details of the most significant adverse variances are as follows: 
 
The Town Centre & Market Budget shows an overall adverse variance of almost £175,000.  
This is attributable to the continuing economic pressures limiting the generation of funds 
from the Market Hall in Accrington by £179,000 compared to Budget and other income 
down £7,000, offset by £9,000 of salary savings and £2,000 of miscellaneous additional 
costs. 
 
Regeneration & Property Services are predicting a negative variance position for the year of 
£73,000, with income up by £198,000, offset by an extra £16,000 of salary costs and 
£160,000 of miscellaneous costs, plus £95,000 of additional emergency repairs and 
maintenance expenditure. 
 
There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons proposed for rejection. 
 
Resolved – That Cabinet noted the report on the Financial Position at 

February 2019 and the financial forecast outturn position for 
the year ending 31 March 2019.  

 
With the consent of the meeting the following agenda item was taken next. 
 

28 Restructuring Kingdom Services Group Limited 
 
The Leader of the Council had submitted a report to inform the Cabinet that following a 
restructure of Kingdom Services Group Limited, of Kingdom House, 1 Woodlands Park, 
Ashton Road, Newton-le-Willows, WA12 0HF, the Division formerly known as EPD/LAS 

Page 8



 
 
 

 

 
 

would, from the 1st May 2019, become a stand-alone company within the Kingdom Group 
under the title ‘LA Support Limited‘. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
At its meeting on 18 July 2018, Cabinet approved the appointment of Kingdom Services 
Group Limited to provide litter and dog fouling enforcement services to the Council for a 12 
month pilot, commencing Monday 5 November 2018. 
 
Notification has been received from Kingdom Services Group Limited, confirming the 
creation of LA Support Limited as a standalone company with company number 11850540 
and with VAT registration number 318945571.  Details of the relevant insurances in the 
name of LA Support Limited have also been supplied to the Council.  
 
A letter sent to the Executive Director (Environment) gives assurances as to the service 
continuing to be supplied by the existing staff engaged on the pilot agreement with the 
Council. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
An alternative option for the Cabinet not to agree to the novation/assignment and to 
withdraw from the pilot arrangement was considered, but would not provide the continuity of 
service required. 
 
Resolved (1) That Cabinet agreed to the novation of its existing service 

level agreement from Kingdom Services Group Limited to 
LA Support Limited; and 

 
(2) That Cabinet delegated authority to the Executive Director 

(Environment) following consultation with the Executive 
Director (Legal & Democratic Services) to agree the terms 
of, and sign, the relevant Deed of Novation agreement; and 

 
(3) That Cabinet delegated authority to the Executive Director 

(Environment), following consultation with the Executive 
Director (Legal & Democratic Services) and the Portfolio 
Holder, to agree the terms of, and sign, any further 
amendments to the agreement between the Council and LA 
Support Services Ltd during the remainder of the pilot 
agreement. 

 
29 Exclusion of the Public 

 
Resolved – That, in accordance with Section 100A(4) Local Government 

Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during 
the following items, when it was likely, in view of the nature 
of the proceedings that there would otherwise be disclosure 
of exempt information within the Paragraph at Schedule 12A 
of the Act specified at the item. 

 
The Leader of the Council and Councillor Tony Dobson both declared a personal interest in 
the following item, by virtue of their appointments as directors of Globe Enterprises Limited. 
 

Page 9



 
 
 

 

 
 

30 Disposal of Shareholdings in Globe Enterprises Limited and Sale of Freehold Land at 
Viaduct Accrington 
 
Exempt Information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Paragraph 3 – 
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information) 
 
The Leader of the Council, who had submitted an exempt report, and Councillor Joyce 
Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, reported jointly in connection with an offer to 
purchase the Council’s shareholding in Globe Enterprises Limited and the sale of freehold 
land at Viaduct, Accrington. 
 
Councillor Noordad Aziz asked a question in relation to whether, or not, the Council would 
retain any shares in Globe Enterprises Limited, to which a verbal response was provided by 
David Welsby, Chief Executive. 
 
Approval of the report was considered to be a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision  
 
The reasons for the decision were set out in the exempt report. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The alternative options considered and reasons for rejection were set out in the exempt 
report. 
 
Resolved – That the recommendations as set out in the exempt report 

be approved. 
 

31 Leasing of King George V Playing Fields, Car Park and Associated Changing Pavilion 
to Accrington Stanley FC 
 
In accordance with Regulation 5(6)(a) of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, approval was given by 
Councillor Noordad Aziz, Chair of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee, to the 
following decision being made by Cabinet on 5th June 2019 in private, on the grounds that 
the decision was urgent and could not reasonably be deferred. 
 
Reason for Urgency 
 
To enable progress to be made on the arrangements for a formal lease for the use of the 
site, at the earliest opportunity, to enable the lessee to commence development of the site. 
 
Exempt Information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Paragraph 3 – 
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information) 
 
Councillor Munsif Dad, Portfolio Holder for Education, Leisure and Arts, had submitted an 
exempt report seeking approval from Cabinet to grant a lease for King George V Playing 
Fields in Accrington, including associated car park and changing pavilion to Accrington 
Stanley Football Club Ltd. and to agree arrangements for the grant of the proposed lease 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed to be a key decision. 
 

Page 10



 
 
 

 

 
 

Reasons for Decision  
 
The reasons for the decision were set out in the exempt report. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The alternative options considered and reasons for rejection were set out in the exempt 
report. 
 
Resolved – That the recommendations as set out in the exempt report 

be approved. 
 

32 Former Bowling Green  Bullough Park  Accrington  BB5 0LW 
 
In accordance with Regulation 5(6)(a) of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, approval was given by 
Councillor Noordad Aziz, Chair of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee, to the 
following decision being made by Cabinet on 5th June 2019 in private, on the grounds that 
the decision was urgent and could not reasonably be deferred. 
 
Reason for Urgency 
 
To enable progress to be made on the arrangements for a formal lease for the use of the 
site, at the earliest opportunity, to facilitate access by the lessee to any grant funding 
available. 
 
Exempt Information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Paragraph 3 – 
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information) 
 
Councillor Munsif Dad, Portfolio Holder for Education, Leisure and Arts, had submitted an 
exempt report seeking approval from Cabinet to the grant of a lease to a local Community 
Interest Company of the former Bowling Green and associated buildings at Bullough Park, 
Accrington, for a period of 5 years. 
 
The Leader of the Conservative Group enquired about alternative provision available for 
bowlers in the area and the possible implications of leasing small parts of the Park site on a 
piecemeal basis.  The Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for Education, Leisure and 
Arts gave verbal responses. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed to be a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision  
 
The reasons for the decision were set out in the exempt report. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The alternative options considered and reasons for rejection were set out in the exempt 
report. 
 
Resolved – That the recommendations as set out in the exempt report 

be approved. 
 

 

Page 11



 
 
 

 

 
 

 
Signed:…………………………………………… 

 
Date: …………….………………………………………… 

 
Chair of the meeting 

At which the minutes were confirmed 
 

 

Page 12



 
 

 
CABINET COMMITTEE (STREET NAMING) 

 

 
Wednesday, 20th March, 2019 

 
Present:  
 
 
In Attendance: 

Councillor Miles Parkinson (in the Chair),  
Councillors Paul Cox and Munsif Dad 
 
Councillor Judith Addison 
 

Apologies Clare Cleary and Gareth Molineux 

  

 
364 Apologies for absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Clare Cleary and Gareth 
Molineux. 
 
Councillors Paul Cox and Miles Parkinson acted as substitute representatives for 
Councillors Cleary and G. Molineux. 
 
There were no reported declarations of interest or dispensations.  
 

365 Minutes of the Last Meeting 
 
The Minutes of the Cabinet Committee- Street Naming held on the 15th February 2019 were 
submitted for approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct 

record. 
 

366 Street Naming Proposal- Thwaites Road, Oswaldtwistle 
 
The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report to seek approval for the 
naming of streets on a new-build residential development located off Thwaites Road, 
Oswaldtwistle. 
 
Members present at the meeting discussed the layout and history of the location and how 
the proposed names linked to the development. 
 
Resolved - That the 4 streets be named as per the Officer’s  

recommendation in the report with a preference for Shire Wood 
rather than Shire Way. 

 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 13

Agenda Item 4.



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 17th July 2019 

REPORT OF: Cllr Noordad Aziz, Chair of the Resources Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee and Cllr Glen Harrison, Chair 
of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

REPORT AUTHOR: Overview and Scrutiny Officer 

TITLE OF REPORT: Overview and Scrutiny Work Programmes 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 This report requests Cabinet to give consideration to and comment on the draft work 

programmes for Overview and Scrutiny for 2019/20. 
 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 That Cabinet notes the work programmes for the Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

contained in the Appendix to this report and provides comments accordingly. 
 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 At the beginning of each municipal year, the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees each agree a work programme for the year. 
 
3.2 The process for agreeing the work programme is set out in Overview and Scrutiny 

procedure rule C6(a) as follows; 
 

“A draft work programme will be submitted for comment to the first appropriate meeting 
of the Cabinet at the beginning of each new Municipal Year and the draft work 
programme for each overview and scrutiny committee will then be submitted to the 
next following meeting of that committee (together with any comments or 
recommendations from the Cabinet) for approval”. 

 
3.3 A draft work programme for each of the Committees is submitted for comment. This 

will be sent in draft to Cabinet, then to both Scrutiny Committees along with any 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6.



 

comments from Cabinet. The Scrutiny Committees will then approve a full programme 
which will be submitted to the next meeting of Cabinet. Due to the timings of meetings 
this year it is proposed that the Overview and Scrutiny Officer will circulate any 
comments from Cabinet to Committee members, with a final programme being 
approved at the next meeting. 

 
 
3.4 The work programmes have been developed following consultation including: 
 
• Multiple emails to all Councillors 
• Suggestions sought from all service managers 
• Informal meeting with the Cabinet 
 
3.5 Thirteen items were suggested by Councillors (including one item which was 

suggested separately by multiple Councillors). Seven of these items have been added 
to the work programme. Of the remaining six, one has been marked as a possibility 
pending further information while the others have been rejected. No items were 
submitted by Service Managers. 

 
3.6 A summary of items submitted by Councillors and reasons why they have been 

included / not included are in the table below. 

Page 16



 

 
Scrutiny Topic Reason for 

Suggestion 
Accepted/R
ejected (If 
rejected 
include 
reason why) 

Notes Suggested 
Committee to 
review (If 
approved) 

Fly 
Tipping/Littering 

Wants focus on Council 
action when on private 
land 

Yes Review last year with waste services – agreed 
to focus on enforcement angle. 

Resources 

Graffiti  As above Yes As above Resources 

DFGs Looking how the DFGs 
are given out ,see if 
there’s a more fairer 
way also how much did 
we spend last year  

No Reviewed last year. Recommendation to 
establish a cross party cabinet working group 
which was accepted.  

NA 

Council support 
for VCFS 
organisations 

How do the Council 
support VCFS 
organisations 

No This item was rejected last year. NA 

GPs lack of 
funding, 
recruiting new 
GPs, reduced 
working 
arrangements 

No reason given No- Cllr Glen 
Harrison to 
raise at LCC 
Health 
Scrutiny 

Agreed that district level Scrutiny could have 
little value here. Requested that instead Cllr 
Glen Harrison raise this issue at LCC Health 
Scrutiny. 

Communities 

Town Centre 
Events 

Review of events 
planned and money 
spent 

Yes Rejected last year, at which time it was 
suggested to add to this years programme. 

Either 

Homelessness 
referral scheme 

No reason given No Homelessness was reviewed last year NA 

Kingdom Worthwhile exercise to 
have the kingdom 
contract and the 
benefits (if any) brought 
to committee. Just 
before the contract is up 
for renewal. 

Yes Already recommended that this be reviewed 
(By the Committee last year) 

Resources 

New Waste 
collection system 

Analyse how the council 
has coped with the 

Yes Agreed to combine with Kingdom item if 
Scrutiny did want to look at this. 

Resources 

P
age 17



 

rollout of the new waste 
collection system.  
 
In terms of customer 
satisfaction, cleanliness 
of our streets and also 
the financial benefits 

Hyndburn’s 
Recovery 
Process for 
Council Tax 
Arrears 

Council Tax 
arrears was the highest 
debt category with, in 
some cases, bailiffs 
being instructed very 
early in the collection 
process, when there are 
other options, such as 
attachment of benefits. 
This latter issue is more 
pronounced in 
Hyndburn than 
Rossendale 

Yes  Communities  

Universal Credit What impact has 
universal credit had on 
the residents of 
Hyndburn. In particular 
is it contributing to the 
40% of children in 
Hyndburn living in 
poverty?  
 

Yes This item was on the agenda last year. 
Deferred several times. 

Communities 

Taxi Licensing Public safety and the 
protection of our drivers 
and usage of low 
emission taxis due to 
environmental impact. 
 
Hyndburn Council has 
always taken public 
safety very seriously. 
This has also covered 

No – green 
panel will 
look at policy 

Last reviewed approx. 2014. Suggestion that 
green panel considers environmental issues 
relating to taxis. 

Resources 

P
age 18



 

the environmental 
impact of the vehicles it 
licenses. 
 
Therefore could I make 
a recommendation that 
we discuss how the 
current policy could be 
strengthened in this 
regard. 

Management of 
green space 
associated with 
new housing 
development 

I think looking at this 
issue creatively this has 
to be a priority. My 
experience in Rishton 
on this hasn't be great 
with a recent housing 
development 
introducing private 
management 
companies taking a 
large proportion of 
service charges for 
simply mowing modest 
strips of grass and the 
almost the entire budget 
going on back room 
office and admin costs. 
The current consultation 
on the local plan is 
proposing this as the 
only mechanism going 
forward. Personally I 
think this is a national 
scandal and I think HBC 
could do better. There's 
an opportunity with new 
house building in terms 
of more creative 
approaches to the 

Possibility – 
Scrutiny 
Officer to 
discuss with 
Chief 
Planning 
Officer 

Scrutiny Officer to discuss with Chief Planning 
Officer 

 

P
age 19



 

greenspace that is 
created, particularly 
with a focus on 
increasing bio-diversity 
within maintenance-light 
planting schemes. I also 
think we need to look at 
alternative options on 
management including 
working with key 
partners like Hyndburn 
Prospects and this 
could have the effect of 
supporting their 
sustainability. I don't 
think any of this will be 
remotely easy but i do 
think it's an area we 
need to focus on cos of 
the environmental 
opportunity and the 
need to get a better 
deal for local people 
buying houses in the 
borough   
 

 
 
3.6 Meetings with the chairs and vice chairs also took place, and items for the work programme were discussed and selected 

in accordance with the Criteria for Selecting Work Programme Items (Appendix 2). 
 
3.7 In addition, Cabinet members were invited to a work programme meeting with the chairs and vice chairs of both 

committees to put forward potential items. 
 
3.8 We have sought to provisionally allocate items to specific meetings.  These may be subject to change during the year, 

particularly where they involve the attendance of external and partner organisations. 
 
3.9 As in previous years, additional items can be added to the work programmes as the year progresses. 

P
age 20



 

 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 Not applicable to this report 
 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 All Councillors and Service Heads were given the opportunity to contribute to the Overview and Scrutiny Work 

Programme 
 

P
age 21



 

 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

None arising from this report 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

Not applicable 

Assessment of risk 
 

Not applicable 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

Not applicable 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 None 

 
 
  

Page 22

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


 

Overview and Scrutiny Work Programmes 2019/20 
 

  
Draft Resources Work Programme 2019/20 
 
 

 
Meeting Date 
(All 3pm unless 
otherwise 
stated) 
 

 
Work Topics  

 
16

th
  July 

 
- Confirmation of Work Programme 

- Appointment of Cooptees 

- Statutory Guidance on Overview and Scrutiny in Local Government 

 
 
 
 
 

 
3

rd
  Sept 

 
- Enforcement of Fly Tipping and Littering on Private Land 

- Green Review Update 
 
 
 
 

 
31

st
 October 

 
 

- Review of Littering Enforcement Contract 

- Report on the New Recycling Scheme 

 
 

 
19th December 

 
 

- Green Review – Update from Scrutiny Panel 

- People Strategy 

 
 
  

 
18

th
 February  

 
Budget  
 
 
 

 
19

th
  March  

- Hyndburn Leisure Financial Update 

- Performance Review 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



 

  
Draft Communities and Wellbeing Work Programme 2019/20 
 

 
Meeting date 
(All 10am unless 
otherwise 
stated) 
 

 
Work Topics 
 

11
th
 July  

- Confirmation of Work Programme 

- Appointment of Cooptees 

- Statutory Guidance on Overview and Scrutiny in Local Government 

- Impact of Universal Credit (DWP)  - agreed to defer 

 
 
 
 

 
4

th
 September 

 
 

- Recovery Process for Council Tax Arrears 

- Impact of Universal Credit (DWP) 

 
 
 
 

 
30

th
 October 

 
 
 

- Review of Town Centre Events 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
18

th
 December 

 
 
 
Available for in year items 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
18

th
  March  

 
- Crime and Disorder 

- Update on the merger of Accrington and Rossendale College 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 24



 

Appendix 2 
 
 
 
Criteria for selecting work programme items:  
 

1. Is this topic a key priority for the Council? (e.g. as identified in the Sustainable 
Community Strategy and Corporate Strategy)  

 
2. Is this topic important to the public? (e.g. are Members aware of public concern, has 

the issue been raised at Area Councils, has it been raised via public consultation?)  
 

3. Is there evidence of poor performance or value for money concerns which Overview & 
Scrutiny should investigate? (e.g. from performance information, external and internal 
audit reports etc)  

 
4. Does the Council spend a significant proportion of its budget on this issue? 

  
5. Is this issue important to Members? 

  
6. Is anyone else already looking at this issue? (i.e. is it really necessary for Overview & 

Scrutiny to spend time on this?)  
 

7. Is this the right time to look at this issue? (e.g. is it about to change anyway?)  
 

8. Will the time spent on this item be worthwhile? (e.g. can Overview & Scrutiny really 
make a contribution to this issue?)  

 
9. Is there scope to involve the public, voluntary groups or other organisations in this 

topic? 
 
 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 17th July 2019 

PORTFOLIO: Councillor Loraine Cox , Housing & Regeneration 

REPORT AUTHOR: Mark Hoyle, Head of Regeneration & Housing 

Fiona Goodfellow, Housing Strategy and Policy Manager 

TITLE OF REPORT: Housing Renewal Policy 

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To seek Cabinet’s approval for a new Housing Renewal Policy. 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
 I recommend that Cabinet: 
 
2.1 Approve Hyndburn’s new Housing Renewal Policy attached at Appendix 1. 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 The Regulatory Reform (England and Wales) (Housing Assistance) Order 2002 (the RRO) 

grants a general power on local authorities to provide “assistance” “in any form” “to any 
person”, to improve, repair, adapt or rebuild residential premises. 

 
3.2 The RRO reflects the view that it is primarily the responsibility of private sector owners to 

maintain their own property but it recognises that some owners, particularly the elderly and 
most vulnerable, do not have the necessary resources to repair or improve their homes.  Local 
authorities therefore, subject to resources, have an important role to play in providing 
assistance in these cases. 

 
3.3 Hyndburn has such a RRO Policy, or probably better described, a Housing Renewal Policy in 

place which was last reviewed in 2006.  
 
3.4 Following a review, a new Housing Renewal Policy is proposed at Appendix 1 and identifies 

the forms of assistance, including financial assistance that will be available from the Council to 
assist vulnerable occupiers in all tenures including disabled people to improve or adapt their 
homes, the eligibility criteria for assistance and the terms upon which this assistance will be 
provided. 

 
3.5 Historically, the Council has utilised the Capital Programme to fund housing renewal activity.  

Due to austerity measures including public sector funding cuts there is very little money now 
available to support housing renewal activity.  However, one area where funding is increasing 
is for Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG’s).  In 2019/20 the Council is due to receive nearly £1m.  
DFG funding forms part of, and is allocated through the Better Care Fund (BCF)1. This fund is 

                                                      
1
 The BCF is a programme spanning both the NHS and local government which seeks to join-up health and care 

services, so that people can manage their own health and wellbeing, and live independently for as long as 
possible. 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7.



 

2 
 

allocated to upper tier authorities (i.e. Lancashire County Council) then passed onto the 
Districts under ring fencing arrangements and it is expected that health priorities will become 
more important in the way DFG funding is spent. 

 
3.6 RRO policies (refer to “3.1” to “3.4” above) include the use of DFG funding, now allocated via 

the BCF as described in “3.5” above.  This now enables local authorities to use specific DFG 
funding for wider purposes. Therefore, subject to an approved RRO, DFG funding can be used 
beyond mandatory DFG’s to support vulnerable households remaining in their existing homes.  
This is therefore an opportunity to use additional DFG funding to support wider measures 
subject to a new RRO (Housing Renewal Policy) which is summarised in “3.7” below. 

 
3.7. Key Policy Areas 
 
 The key policy areas are summarised as follows:- 
 
3.7.1 Education and Encouragement 
 
 The aim here will be to provide information and advice to assist any person to improve, repair, 

adapt or rebuild residential premises.  In doing so, the Council will work with third sector 
parties, including the voluntary sector, registered providers, home improvement agencies, 
health, other local authorities and fuel poverty and energy efficiency groups and organisations 
to improve housing conditions. 

 
3.7.2 Direct Financial Assistance 
 
 Here the aim will be to provide assistance to vulnerable households including the elderly and 

disabled.  Financial assistance will be subject to availability of funding and written terms and 
conditions under which assistance will be provided.  The forms of assistance could include: 

 

 Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG’s) up to £30,000 
 

 Discretionary Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG’s) to include: 
 
o Topping up the maximum mandatory grant of £30,000 by up to an additional £20,000 
o The introduction of a £7,000 threshold before a means test is applied. 

 

 Additional Assistance for Vulnerable Households, to include: 
 

o Affordable Warmth Grant and energy efficiency measures including provision, renewal 
or repair of heating and hot water systems, insulation or double glazing up to a 
maximum of £7,000. 

o Hospital Discharge Grants up to £3,000 where needed to support hospital discharge 
o Emergency Works Grant – to eliminate Category 1 hazards that pose an imminent risk 

to the health or safety of the occupants following an inspection under the Housing 
Health and Safety Rating System up to a maximum of £7,000.  The works to include: 
providing essential repairs to electrical wiring where this has been assessed as 
dangerous 

o Home Security Assistance Grant up to a maximum of £3,000 
 

  All the above will be subject to funding and liquid assets/savings not exceeding £25,000. 
 

 Facelift grants forming part of a housing renewal scheme to improve the appearance and 
exterior of a block of dwellings (subject to funding). 

Page 28



 

3 
 

 

 Relocation Assistance usually where demolition is proposed under a Council led 
regeneration scheme (subject to funding). 
 

 Empty Homes - to bring long term empty homes back into use (subject to funding). 
 
3.7.3 Indirect Financial Assistance 
 
 To provide assistance by working in partnership with others including Registered Providers, 

House Builders, health and social care related housing projects and the voluntary sector to 
support the regeneration and renewal of poor quality housing. 

 
3.7.4 Enforcement 
 
 The Council will use various powers available to it to intervene and secure improvements 

where housing conditions are in disrepair and/or unacceptable in accordance with the Housing 
Enforcement Policy adopted in June 2017. 

 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 The Council is required to have a RRO Policy in place in order to provide various forms of 

housing assistance and therefore not having a Policy is not an option. 
 
4.2 The overall approach proposed is to provide housing assistance to the most vulnerable 

households across the Borough and those in greatest need. 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 During the development of the proposed Policy the Regeneration and Housing Panel were 

consulted. Lancashire County Council has also been consulted. 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including any 
future financial commitments for the 
Council) 
 

All forms of assistance will be subject to approval 
in the Council’s Capital Programme.  The 
Council’s DFG allocation for 2019/20 is £965,987. 

Legal and human rights implications 
 

DFG’s are a mandatory grant of which the 
Council are spending approximately £650,000 per 
annum. 
The Council is required by the Regulatory Reform 
(Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 
2002 to adopt and publish a policy setting out 
how it will exercise the power to provide the 
housing assistance set out in Article 3 of the 
Order. 

 

Assessment of risk 
 

By not approving and publishing the Housing 
Renewal Policy we are contravening Article 4 of 
the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) 
(England and Wales) Order 2002 and thus not 
able to provide housing assistance. 
 

Page 29



 

4 
 

The main financial risk is overspending on the 
annual approved budget.  This will be closely 
managed and monitored by putting appropriate 
controls in place and regular reporting to the 
Council’s Capital Programme Working Group. 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy decisions 
and should be attached as an appendix 
to the report.  
 

Attached at Appendix 2. 

 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 None.  

Page 30

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


 

 

APPENDIX 1 

Hyndburn Borough Council 

Housing Renewal Policy 

July 2019 

 

 

 

 

Our Vision 

Driving growth and prosperity in Hyndburn 

 

 

Page 31



 

1 

CONTENTS 

  Page 
1 Policy Aim 2 
2 Legal Context 2 
3 Other Relevant Guidance 3 
   

Part 1 – The Policy 
 

4 Introduction 4 
5 Education and Encouragement 4 
6 Direct Financial Assistance 5 
 6.2 Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) 5 
 6.3 Additional Assistance for Vulnerable Households 6 
 6.4 Group Repair Works including Facelift Assistance 6 

 6.5 Relocation Assistance 7 
 6.6 Empty Homes 7 

7 In-direct Financial Assistance - Other 8 
8 Enforcement 8 
   

Part 2 – Types of Housing Assistance 
 

9 Introduction 9 
10 General Provisions 9 
   

Types of Assistance                                                                           13 
   
 Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) 14 
 Discretionary Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) 16 
 Affordable Warmth Grant 18 
 Hospital Discharge Grant 19 
 Emergency Works Grant 20 
 Home Security Assistance 22 
 Group Repair / Facelift 24 
 Relocation Assistance 25 
 Empty Homes 28 
   

Appendices  
   

A Vulnerability Eligibility Criteria 30 
 

 

Page 32



 

2 

1. Policy Aim 

1.1 The Council’s Corporate Strategy (2018 – 2023) is “A Strategy for Growth, 

Efficiency and Quality”.  It promotes housing and employment growth making 

growth central to Hyndburn’s strategic vision for the borough.   

1.2 The Corporate Strategy recognises access to a wide choice of good quality housing 

and employment opportunities will make Hyndburn an attractive place to live and 

invest and help the people of Hyndburn to enjoy a standard of living and have a 

quality of life that enables them to fulfil their potential and supports their health and 

wellbeing. 

1.3 The Housing Renewal Policy supports the strategic vision by promoting the 

improvement of housing standards across the borough.  The main Policy aims are 

to: 

 Improve housing conditions across the borough 

 Reduce the number of vulnerable households living in sub-decent housing 

 Reduce the number of vacant homes 

 Adapt homes for people with disabilities 

 Tackle fuel poverty and improve energy efficiency 

 Achieve improvements in condition and management in the private rented 

sector 

2. Legal Context 

Primary legislation:  

2.1 The Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996  

2.1.1 Much of this Act has been repealed by the Regulatory Reform Order (See 2.2 

below) in order to remove the “burdens upon local authorities in the exercise of their 

functions in relation to the provision of financial and other assistance for, or in 

connection with, the improvement, repair and renovation of housing.”1 

2.1.2 The remaining legislative framework contained within this Act provides the basis for 

the provision of Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG’s) and loans.  

2.2 The Regulatory Reform (England and Wales) (Housing Assistance) Order 

2002 (the RRO)  

2.2.1 The RRO radically changed the way in which government sought to encourage 

private sector home improvement in England and Wales. The RRO swept away 

much of the prescriptive nature of previous legislation (See 2.1 above), instituting a 

general power on local authorities to provide “assistance” “in any form” “to any 

person”, to improve, repair, adapt or rebuild residential premises.  

  

                                                           
1
 The Regulatory Reform Oder 2002 (a)(i) 

Page 33



 

3 

2.2.2 The RRO reflects the view that it is primarily the responsibility of private sector 

owners to maintain their own property but it recognises that some owners, 

particularly the elderly and most vulnerable, do not have the necessary resources to 

repair or improve their homes. Local authorities therefore have an important role to 

play in providing assistance in these cases.  This is the context for Hyndburn’s 

Housing Renewal Policy. 

2.3 The Housing Act 2004  

2.3.1 The Housing Act includes the method of evaluating the condition of the housing 

stock (the Housing, Health and Safety Rating System) and a system of mandatory 

and discretionary licensing for houses in multiple occupation (HMOs) in the private 

rented sector. 

3. Other Relevant Guidance  

 To assist the decision making process and implementation of this Policy, the Policy 

has been developed in line with the following guidance:  

3.1 Home Adaptations for Disabled People – A detailed Guide to related 

legislation, Guidance and Good Practice 20132 

3.1.1 This Guidance was commissioned by the Department for Communities & Local 

Government and provides information about the legal position concerning home 

adaptations alongside examples and ideas for service delivery.  

3.2 The Disabled Facilities Grant – Before and after the introduction of the Better 

Care Fund 20163 

3.2.1 This report brings together information about the development of Disabled Facilities 

Grants (DFG’s), relevant legislation, and the different organisations involved. It 

looks at the implications of the Better Care Fund introduced April 2014 and makes 

recommendations about how DFG delivery could be improved. 

3.3 Preparing a Policy under the Regulatory Reform Order (2002) Housing 

Renewal4 

3.3.1 This gives local authorities guidance on using the RRO in practice to develop 

programmes to expand their grant delivery. 

  

                                                           
2
 Home Adaptations Consortium  

3
 Foundations 2016 

4
 Foundations 2016 

Page 34



 

4 

Part 1 - The Policy 

4. Introduction 

4.1 Part 1 outlines the policy areas and describes the various types of assistance which 

may be made available under the Policy.    

4.2 The amount of financial assistance to be provided each year will be determined by 

the Council and Lancashire County Council and will be dependent upon the level of 

capital resources available through the Council’s Capital Programme and the Better 

Care Fund.  Eligibility criteria and maximum and minimum levels of assistance will 

be determined through this Policy as set out in Part 2 of this document (Types of 

Housing Assistance).  

4.3 The overall aim of the this Policy is to encourage home owners and landlords to 

invest in their own property and to target available funds towards the most 

vulnerable households living in the worst housing conditions and within areas of 

market weakness.  In particular, public funds will be utilised to meet the Council’s 

objectives to support independent living, increasing levels of fitness and decency, 

targeting empty homes and alleviating fuel poverty and excess cold. 

4.4 Additional forms of assistance may be added from time to time as new initiatives 

are developed or funding becomes available.   

4.5 The main policy areas are: 

 Education and Encouragement 

 Direct Financial Assistance 

 Indirect Financial Assistance 

 Enforcement  

5. Education and Encouragement  

5.1 In line with Government direction, the Policy reinforces the view that it is primarily 

the responsibility of property owners to maintain their own property but also 

recognises that some owners, particularly vulnerable households including the 

elderly and disabled, do not have the necessary resources to repair, adapt or 

improve their own homes.  Resources will be targeted at these households.  

However, the Council will try to advise and provide direction to those households 

not eligible for financial assistance under this Policy.  

5.2 Working with partners we aim to provide information and advice to assist any 

person to improve, repair, adapt or rebuild residential premises. In doing so, we 

may enter into partnership arrangements with Registered Providers, the private 

sector, the voluntary sector, home improvement agencies, health, other local 

authorities and fuel poverty and energy efficiency partnerships and collaborations. 

  

Page 35



 

5 

6. Direct Financial Assistance  

6.1 It is the responsibility of owners to maintain and improve their properties at their 

own expense. However, the Council recognises that we have a role and 

responsibilities to provide assistance, particularly to the elderly and vulnerable.  

 All financial assistance given is subject to:  

a) Available funding resources and capacity  

b) Written terms and conditions under which assistance will be given  

Before giving any assistance the Council will:  

a) Provide appropriate advice or information about the extent and nature of any 

obligation (financial or otherwise) they will be taking on  

b) Give regard to the person’s ability to afford to make a contribution or 

repayment.  

 The Council will/may provide:  

6.2 Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG):  

6.2.1 With effect from April 2015, Disabled Facilities Grant funding was included within 

the Better Care Fund (BCF) paid by Department of Communities and Local 

Government programme spanning both the NHS and local government which seeks 

to join-up health and care services, so that people can manage their own health and 

wellbeing, and live independently in their communities for as long as possible.  

6.2.2 Within two tier areas, the housing authority (i.e. District/Boroughs) and the social 

care authority (Lancashire County Council), have to establish new working 

relationships to manage the DFG funding element of the Better Care Fund to meet 

shared objectives within the Health & Wellbeing Strategy. However, the legal 

responsibility for provision of DFG (a mandatory grant) remains with the local 

housing authority i.e. Hyndburn Borough Council. 

6.2.3 Since 2015/16 annual agreements have been made between Lancashire County 

Council and the Lancashire Districts to transfer the DFG allocation from the BCF to 

local housing authorities. Subject to any changes in legislation and regulations from 

2019/20 onwards the Council will:  

a) Provide Disabled Facilities Grants in accordance with the purposes, eligibility 

and test of resources as defined in the Housing Grants, Construction and 

Regeneration Act 1996.  

b) Provide an agency service (an optional and chargeable support service to 

applicants to include form completion, drawing up of schedule of works and 

contract management).  

c) Ensure that all contractors carrying out DFG works meet the required quality 

and professional standards.  

Page 36



 

6 

d) Use our discretionary powers to remove the requirement for a means test for 

the cost of all adaptations up to a maximum of £7,000.00 requested following 

an assessment of need by an Occupational Therapist or other health or social 

care specialist.  

e) Use our discretionary powers to award top up assistance above the mandatory 

maximum of £30,000 up to a limit of £50,000 where requested by health and 

social care following an assessment by an Occupational Therapist. 

f)  For “d)” and “e)” above the works must be for the benefit of the disabled person 

or carer and are required to help retain independence in the home, facilitate 

discharge from hospital, access care or hospital treatment, alleviate the risk of 

injury or the disabled person or carer are terminally ill.  

6.2.4 As part of the standard DFG application process a standard test of resources is 

undertaken to determine whether the applicant needs to make a financial 

contribution toward the cost of the works. This is called a means test. 

6.3 Additional Assistance for Vulnerable Households  

6.3.1 Subject to the availability of funding, we seek to provide additional grant assistance 

to help eligible vulnerable households remain in their own home where there is an 

evidenced outcome contributing towards the health and well-being of a resident. 

The vulnerability eligibility criteria are attached at Appendix A.  

6.3.2 This type of assistance will extend to:  

• Affordable Warmth Grant – up to a maximum amount of £7,000 

• Hospital Discharge Grant – up to a maximum of £3,000 

• Emergency Works Grant – required to alleviate Category 1 hazards5 - up to a 

maximum of £7,000 

• Home Security Assistance Grant – up to a maximum of £3,000 as a top up to 

any of the above  

6.4 Group Repair Works including Facelift Assistance 

6.4.1 This type of assistance will normally be used to support wider regeneration activity 

in specific geographical neighbourhoods.   

6.4.2 It will be available to those invited by the Council to participate in specific targeted 

schemes for works of external repair, external improvement or improvement to 

security to groups of buildings, usually terraced blocks.  Assistance will be 

determined by the Council on a project by project basis and will extend to both 

privately owned and rented accommodation, although eligible works may vary by 

tenure. 

6.4.3 Costs for this type of scheme will normally be met through the Council’s capital 

programme subject to availability of funds. 

 

                                                           
5
 Housing Act 2004 – the Housing, Health and Rating System 

Page 37



 

7 

6.5 Relocation Assistance 

6.5.1 Subject to available resources, Relocation Assistance will normally be provided to 

support the Council’s regeneration and growth plans and will be for one of the 

following purposes only: 

• To acquire living accommodation within a specified geographical area usually 

as part of a regeneration scheme 

• To demolish buildings comprising or including living accommodation 

6.5.2 In addition, Relocation Assistance will only be given when the Council has: 

• Decided to make a compulsory purchase order in respect of dwellings 

• Decided to purchase dwellings 

• Decided that the provision of direct assistance under this Policy will improve 

living conditions and neighbourhoods within the borough of Hyndburn. 

6.5.3 Costs for this type of assistance will normally be met through the Council’s Capital 

Programme subject to the availability of funds. 

6.6 Empty Homes 

6.6.1 Subject to available resources empty homes assistance will be available to private 

sector owners, (which includes potential landlords), to facilitate the completion of 

essential repairs, renovation works and improvement works required to bring an 

empty dwelling back into use. 

6.6.2 Assistance will normally targeted towards specific geographical areas forming part 

of regeneration schemes or specific empty dwellings that are causing a wider 

nuisance to a neighbourhood. 

6.6.3 Empty Homes Assistance could be in the form of: 

• Empty Homes Repayment Loan 

• Empty Homes Equity Loan 

• Empty Homes Grant 

6.6.4 Any assistance under this area will be subject to: 

• Defined assistance specific to the project and funding available including 

criteria, eligibility and amount of funding which may be subject to separate 

approval 

• Provision having been made within the Council’s Capital Programme. 

  

Page 38



 

8 

7. In-direct Financial Assistance – Other  

7.1. This Policy aims is to respond to identified need, and to support partners & deliver 

shared objectives we will take up discretionary powers to provide additional 

financial assistance for housing adaptations/improvements under Article 3 of the 

Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002.  

7.2 The Council will seek to use these powers to:  

a) Support Lancashire’s Health & Wellbeing Strategy  

b) Support joint commissioning schemes to address housing and health impacts. 

In particular the Policy aims to support projects and programmes that seek to 

address fuel poverty, improve well-being and reduce admissions into hospital  

c) Support joint commissioning initiatives to provide advice practical support for 

vulnerable households to maintain independence and safety within the home.  

d) Work with the voluntary, private and public sectors to achieve the objective of 

this Policy.  For example the Council will work with Registered Providers and 

Private Sectors partners to bring long term homes back into use or bring about 

the repair and improvement of occupied homes to an agreed standard. 

8. Enforcement  

8.1 Hyndburn’s Corporate Strategy (2018-2023) spells out that it is the Council’s 

objective to “work to enhance the quality of life for our residents”.  This extends to 

residential accommodation and therefore the Council has in place a Housing 

Enforcement Policy which was adopted in June 2017.  The Policy sets out the 

broad principles the Council will follow to ensure that housing accommodation 

across the borough does not adversely affect the health, safety and welfare of the 

occupiers or visitors and how it will improve the management of the private rented 

sector. 

8.2 Local Authorities are responsible for the local implementation and enforcement of 

the general provision for safety in dwellings through the Housing Health and Safety 

Rating System (HHSRS). The HHSRS is a risk based evaluation tool to identify 

risks and hazards, such as damp and excess cold, to health and safety from any 

deficiencies within the home.  

8.3 We will only use enforcement action to:  

 Help to identify and protect against potential risks and hazards  

 Ensure that a property is used for housing – that it is occupied and managed 

properly 

 Bring long term empty dwellings back into use 

8.4 Enforcement action will only be used when information and encouragement and 

financial assistance options have been exhausted and consideration has been 

given to the human rights of anyone with an interest in the property.  

Page 39



 

9 

8.5 The Council:  

a) Will use its statutory powers6 to intervene where housing conditions are 

unacceptable, particularly in response to complaints from tenants about 

disrepair in order to make the property safe or allow the Council to take 

emergency action to make it safe 

 

b) Will use relevant powers to bring long term empty homes back into use, 

including the use of Council Tax Empty Property Premiums7 

c) Will use statutory powers to require someone to make the property secure or 

allow the Council to board it up in an emergency  

d) May use Enforced sales procedures8 to use and enforce charges against a 

property where someone has failed to meet the terms of a statutory notice or 

where someone owes Council Tax or other debts to the Council  

e) May use Compulsory Purchase Orders (CPOs)9 where the property has been 

empty for two or more years and it is not on the market to let or sell.  

8.6 Part 2 of this Policy will set out the various forms of Housing Assistance available, 

usually subject to resources. 

Part 2 – Types of Housing Assistance 

9. Introduction 

9.1 This section outlines the general conditions which apply to the various forms of 

assistance.  Any additional conditions or exceptions to the general conditions that 

apply will be detailed in the description of the “Type of Assistance”, which will 

describe: 

 Purpose of the assistance 

 Amount of assistance available 

 Eligibility criteria 

 Method of application 

 Terms and Conditions 

10. General Provisions Relating to the Provision of Housing 

Assistance 

 The following general conditions will normally apply to applications for 

assistance: 

10.1 Make this Policy available for inspection by the public free of charge and provide a 

copy of this Policy to any member of the public who requests it free of charge. 

                                                           
6
 Section 36 of the Local Government Act 1974 

7
 The Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Act 2018 

8
 Law of Property Act 1925 

9
 Relevant legislation including Housing Act 1985 and the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

Page 40



 

10 

10.2 Make a written offer of assistance setting out what conditions, if any, are attached to 

the assistance offered. 

10.3 Impose conditions on the assistance to be given in accordance with this Policy. 

10.4 Ensure that each applicant has received appropriate advice and assistance or 

information about the extent and nature of any obligation, whether financial or 

otherwise, to which s/he will become subject as a consequence of the provision of 

assistance. 

10.5 When and if appropriate, register a legal charge in respect of assistance given, or 

make contractual provisions for the recovery of the assistance as an unsecured 

debt. 

 Agency Service and Fees 

10.6 Normally the Council will impose agency fees and/or administration fees to cover its 

costs in providing assistance.  The amount of fees will not exceed 15% of the total 

cost of the assistance, and this cost will normally be eligible for assistance up to the 

prescribed maximum.   

10.7 Where the Council provides an agency service, such as for DFGs, the applicant will 

normally have to enter into an agency agreement with the Council.  

 Applications for Assistance 

10.8 All applications shall be in writing, using a prescribed form as adopted and 

amended from time to time by the Council.  Additional documentation to accompany 

each form of assistance will normally be specified within the Method of Application 

section of the each form of assistance or on the application form and accompanying 

notes and guidance. 

 Fees and Other Ancillary Services 

10.9 In addition to the actual cost of carrying out works other necessary charges incurred 

in undertaking the assistance works may also be eligible for assistance; such as 

architect and/or surveyor fees, charges for planning permission and building 

regulations approval, costs relating to confirmation of ownership, legal fees, etc. 

 Exclusions from Assistance 

10.10 No assistance shall normally be granted for a dwelling that has been constructed or 

converted within 10 years of the date of application, except in relation to an 

application for assistance for an adaptation for the benefit of a disabled person, or 

an application for relocation assistance. 

 Restrictions on Assistance 

10.11 The Council will not generally approve an application for assistance if the works 

involved have been carried out before an application has been approved.  Where 

the relevant works have been started but not completed the application may be 

approved if the Council is satisfied that there were good reasons for beginning the 

Page 41



 

11 

works before the application was approved.  Where the Council decides to approve 

an application in these circumstances, the Council may treat the application as 

varied so that the works eligible for assistance do not include any of the works that 

were completed before the approval. 

 Calculation of the Assistance Amount 

10.12 The process by which the amount of assistance is calculated will be detailed within 

the specific section describing the form of assistance.  This will include details of 

any test of financial resources (means test), where applicable. 

 Minimum and Maximum amount of Assistance 

10.13 The assistance may take the form of a grant or loan.  Unless specified within the 

type of assistance, there will normally be no minimum amount, but the maximum 

amount of assistance will be detailed within the type of assistance specific 

conditions. 

 Payment of Assistance 

10.14 Where the Council has approved an application for assistance then it will pay the 

assistance as detailed within each specific grant or loan.  The assistance may be 

paid as follows: 

 In whole after completion of the eligible works. 

 In part by instalments as the works progress and the balance after completion 

of the works.  Where the assistance is paid by instalments the aggregate of the 

instalments paid before completion will not normally be paid before completion 

of the eligible works shall not exceed nine tenths of the amount of the 

assistance. 

 In whole, prior to the commencement of the works, upon completion of the legal 

documentation to secure the assistance against the applicant’s property. 

10.15 In approving an application for Assistance the Council may require, as a condition 

of payment, that the eligible works are carried out in accordance with all such 

specifications as the Council may determine. 

10.16 In any event the payment of any type of work related assistance is conditional upon: 

 The eligible works being executed to the satisfaction of the Council, and 

 The Council being provided with an acceptable invoice, demand or receipt for 

payment for such works. 

10.17 An invoice, demand or receipt is acceptable only if satisfies the Council and is not 

given by the Applicant or a member of the Applicant’s family. 

10.18 The Council may pay the assistance, or part of the assistance, by direct payment to 

the Contractor, or by delivering a cheque to the Applicant made payable to the 

contractor. 

Page 42



 

12 

10.19 The Council will inform the Applicant before the application of assistance is 

approved, or in the approval notification, the likely method and timing of payment. 

10.20 Where assistance is payable, but the works in question have not been carried out to 

the satisfaction of the Applicant or the Council (especially if the Council is providing 

an agency service), and where the Council considers it appropriate to do so, 

withhold payment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 43



 

13 

 
TYPES OF 

ASSISTANCE 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 44



 

14 

Type of Assistance: 
Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant 

Purpose of Assistance 
  
 To fund adaptations so that a person with disabilities can live safely in their home and maintain 

their independence and is awarded  for: 
 

 Facilitating access to and from the dwelling by the disabled occupant 

 Making the dwelling or building safe for the disabled occupant 

 Access to principle family room by the disabled occupant 

 Access to, or providing a bedroom for the disabled occupant 

 Access to, or providing a room containing a bath or shower for the disabled occupant or 
facilitating the use by the occupant of such a facility 

 Access to, or providing a room containing a WC  for the disabled occupant or facilitating the 
use by the occupant of such a facility 

 Access to, or providing a room containing a wash hand basin  for the disabled occupant or 
facilitating the use by the occupant of such a facility 

 Facilitating the preparation and cooking of food by the disabled person 

 Improving or providing a heating system for the disabled person 

 Facilitating the use of power, light or heat by the disabled person by altering same or 
providing additional means of control  

 Facilitating access and movement around the dwelling to enable the disabled person to care 
for someone else   

 Access to gardens 
 

Amount (Maximum) 
 

 The cost of necessary and appropriate adaptations including ancillary costs which are over 
and above any calculated contribution identified from a financial assessment. 

 The maximum that can be awarded is £30,000 inclusive of fees 
 

Eligibility 
 

 Home owners, tenants and landlords who are aged 18 or over.  A parent or legal guardian 
may apply on behalf of a child or young person.   

 The proposed adaptations have been assessed by an Occupational Therapist or other health 
or social care specialist as necessary and appropriate to meet the needs of the disabled 
person.    

 The proposed adaptations are reasonable and practicable with regard to the age and 
condition of the property 

 The works are eligible works are set out in S23 Housing Grants, Construction and 
Regeneration Act 1996 

 The grant is subject to an assessment of the finances of the disabled person and any partner 
in accordance with allowances set by the Government unless the application is being made 
on behalf of a child.  Applicants in receipt of certain means tested benefits will qualify 
without further assessment.  

 The owner of the property must agree to the works and provide an Owner’s Certificate 

 A tenant must provide a Tenant’s Certificate to certify intention to occupy the property for 
the term of the grant 

 Works must not have been started or completed 

Page 45



 

15 

Method of Application 
 

 By prescribed application form  

 Accompanied by :-  
o a referral from a competent Occupational Therapist or other health, or social care 

specialist  
o Documentary evidence of all income, savings and capital for the financial assessment. 
o details of the proposed works, relevant planning and building regulations approval, 

evidence of - compliance with health and safety regulations 
o at least two quotations 
o confirmation of tenure and Owner’s Certificate, and Tenant’s Certificate if appropriate  

 Assistance is available to the applicant if they wish to use the Council’s agency service, for 
which there is a charge of 15% +VAT, which is grant applicable. 

  

Terms and Conditions 

 
 Provided in accordance with the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 

and the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) England and Wales Order 2002 

 Payment is made when works are completed in compliance with planning and building 
regulations and having been confirmed as meeting the disabled person’s needs by an 
Occupational Therapist. 

 Where a property is privately owned and the grant is awarded for an extension a land charge 
of £10,000 will be placed against the property for a period of 10 years.   

 If the property is sold or otherwise changes ownership within 10 years of the award of the 
grant the Council will require repayment up to a maximum of £10,000 subject to assessment 
of individual circumstances.   

o The extent to which the recipient will suffer financial hardship if the grant was 
reclaimed 

o Whether the disposal of the property was to enable the recipient to take up 
employment, or change the location of their employment 

o Whether the disposal of the property is made for reasons of the recipient’s physical 
or mental well-being, or 

o Whether the disposal is made to enable the recipient to live with, or near, any 
person who will provide care for the recipient by reason of their disability 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 46



 

16 

Type of Assistance: 
Discretionary Disabled Facilities Grant 

Purpose of Assistance 
  
 Provide additional resources for works and items that fall outside the scope of the mandatory 

grant scheme at the discretion of the Council and are subject to the availability of funding.   
Applications will be given individual consideration and include the following: 

 
o Waiver of the mandatory financial assessment for  adaptations  that do not exceed  

£7,000 such as stair lifts, step lifts, level access showers, wash/dry toilets 
o Assistance where it will be difficult for the applicant to make their assessed 

contribution 
o Assistance with costs above the statutory grant maximum, currently £30,000 
o Works which are not eligible for mandatory grant funding   
o Temporary accommodation whilst works are being carried out 
o Assistance with the costs of relocation to a property which will be more effective or 

economic to adapt than the current home 
 

Amount (Maximum) 
 

 The grant can fund the costs of necessary and appropriate adaptations and ancillary costs up 
to a maximum of £50,000. 

 

Eligibility 
  

 Home owners, tenants and landlords who are aged 18 or over.  A parent or legal guardian 
may apply on behalf of a child or young person.   

 At the discretion of the Council in consultation with an Occupational Therapist or other 
health or social care specialist.    

 The proposed adaptations are reasonable and practicable with regard to the age and 
condition of the property 

 The owner of the property must agree to the works and provide an Owner’s Certificate A 
tenant must provide a Tenant’s Certificate or certify intention to occupy the property for the 
term of the grant 

 Works must not have been started or completed 
 

 Where costs will not exceed £7,000 there will be no financial assessment.  If additional 
works are required after the grant has been approved or costs increase there will be no 
retrospective financial assessment. 

 Where costs will exceed £7,000 for example when more than one item is required or a single 
item, such as a vertical lift, will exceed £7,000 the financial assessment may be waived in 
consultation with an Occupational Therapist or other health or social care specialist 
applicant. 

 

 Discretionary grant funding for will be available for other items including: 
 

o Assistance with calculated contributions towards  works that will cost over £7,000 
o Assistance with costs above the mandatory grant level 
o Assistance with works that are not eligible for mandatory grant funding 
o Relocation Assistance - Relocation Assistance applicants will require supporting 

Page 47



 

17 

evidence from an Occupational Therapist or other health or social care professional  
that the property they propose to move to  will be suited to their needs, or their 
needs can be met, with a Mandatory or Non- Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant  
and  provide evidence of expenditure. 

 

 Total Household Income is not in excess of £25,000 and the total Household Savings are not 
in excess of £25,000. 
  

Method of Application  
 

 By application form    

 Accompanied by :-  
o a referral from a competent Occupational Therapist  or other health, or social care 

specialist 
o details of the proposed works, relevant planning and building regulations approval, 

evidence of - compliance with health and safety regulations 
o at least two quotations for proposed works  
o confirmation of tenure and Owner’s Certificate, and Tenant’s Certificate if appropriate  

 Assistance is available to the applicant if they wish to use the Council’s agency service, for 
which there is a charge of 15% +VAT, which is grant applicable. 

 

Terms and Conditions 

 
 Provided in accordance with the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 

and the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) England and Wales Order 2002 

 Payment is made when works are completed in compliance with planning and building 
regulations and having been confirmed as meeting the disabled person’s needs by an 
Occupational Therapist. 

 Where a property is privately owned and the grant is awarded for an extension a land charge 
of £10,000 will be placed on the property for a period of 10 years.   

 If the property is sold or otherwise changes ownership within 10 years of the award of the 
grant Council will require repayment up to a maximum of £10,000 subject to assessment of 
individual circumstances.   

o The extent to which the recipient will suffer financial hardship if the grant was 
reclaimed 

o Whether the disposal of the property was to enable the recipient to take up 
employment, or change the location of their employment 

o Whether the disposal of the property is made for reasons of the recipient’s physical 
or mental well-being, or 

o Whether the disposal is made to enable the recipient to live with, or near, any 
person who will provide care for the recipient by reason of their disability 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 48



 

18 

Type of Assistance: 
Affordable Warmth Grant  

Purpose of Assistance 
 

 Servicing, repairs and replacement boilers and heating systems and associated works, 
including controls 

 

 Repairs to and new radiators and radiator reflectors  
 

 Gas fire services and repairs 
 

 Draught proofing measures – windows, doors, loft hatches, electrical fittings on walls and 
ceilings, suspended floorboards, pipework leading outside, ceiling-to-wall joints.  Thermal 
blinds and carpets may be included as draught proofing measures in appropriate 
circumstances where other long-term measures have been considered and the thermal 
benefit can be demonstrated.   

 

 Standard loft and cavity wall insulation 
 

 Interventions for 'hard to treat' cavities and solid walls such as non-standard insulation 
solutions and external or internal wall insulation. 

 

 Glazing improvements 
 

Amount (Maximum) 
 

 £7,000.00 
 

Eligibility 
 

 All tenures 

 Vulnerable household – see Appendix A 

 Income – total households income not in excess of £25,000 

 Savings – total households savings under £25,000 

Method of Application 
 

 Application Form 

 2 quotations  

Terms and Conditions 
 

 A fee of 15% will be charged 

 Work not to start prior to the consent of Hyndburn Borough Council 

 Works must be carried out by the contractor whose quotation accompanied the application 

 Payment will be made on completion of the works and the satisfaction of the client and 
Council following receipt of invoices / claim form / other relevant certification. Payment to 
be made direct to the contractor. 

 
 

Page 49



 

19 

Type of Assistance: 
Hospital Discharge Grant 

Purpose of Assistance 
 
To assist where  there is an emergency requirement: 
 

- To allow the applicant to be discharged from hospital 
- To assist an applicant who is terminally ill 
- Where the applicant is unable to  access essential hospital appointments, dialysis or day care 

without adaptations 
- The service user and/or their carers are currently at considerable risk or injury  

 

Amount (Maximum) 
 

 £3,000.00 
 

Eligibility 
 

 An Occupational Therapy Service or other health, or social care specialist has  identified the 
need 

 All tenures 

 Vulnerable household – see Appendix A 

 Income – total households income not in excess of £25,000 

 Savings – total households savings under £25,000 
 

Method of Application 
 

 Application form 

 Accompanied by :-  
o evidence  of identified need from an Occupational Therapist or health / social care 

professional 
o details of the proposed works, relevant planning and building regulations approval, 

evidence of - compliance with health and safety regulations 
o at least two quotations 
o confirmation of tenure and a certificate of intended occupation 
o completion of a finance questionnaire 

 

Terms and Conditions 
 

 A fee of 15% will be charged 

 Work not to start prior to the consent of Hyndburn Borough Council 

 Works must be carried out by the contractor whose quotation accompanied the application 

 Payment will be made on completion of the works and the satisfaction of the client, Council 
and Occupational Therapist following receipt of invoices / claim form / other relevant 
certification (planning & building regulations). Payment to be made direct to the contractor. 
 

 

 

Page 50



 

20 

Type of Assistance: 
Emergency Works Grant 

Purpose of Assistance 
 
To carry out such works that are required to eliminate Category 1 Hazards as assessed under the 
Housing Health and Safety Rating System that pose an imminent risk to the health or safety of the 
occupants. 
 
The grant is not for general home improvements but to provide assistance to enable works of an 
urgent nature where they would not otherwise be achievable. 
 
Eligible works 

To be eligible works must protect the occupants from immediate exposure to danger. 

Types of eligible works 

 securing the basic fabric of the property from the entry of wind or rain 

 repairs to windows and doors 

 defective drainage 

 dangerous wiring   

 essential repairs to hot water systems 

 essential repairs to heating systems in times of cold weather 

 works to prevent injury from structural collapse and falling elements 

 works to prevent exposure to un-combusted fuel gases and explosions 

 works to prevent harm from fire 

 works to prevent injuries from falls 

Amount (Maximum) 
 

 £7,000.00  
 

Eligibility 
 

 Owner Occupiers 

 Main or Only residence 

 Vulnerable household – see Appendix A 

 Income – total households income not in excess of £25,000 

 Savings – total households savings under £25,000 

 Subject to availability 

 Works covered by an Insurance Policy would not be eligible 

Method of Application 
 

 Application Form 

 at least two quotations 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



 

21 

Terms and Conditions 
 

 A fee of 15% will be charged 

 Work not to start prior to the consent of Hyndburn Borough Council 

 Works must be carried out by the contractor whose quotation accompanied the application 

 Payment will be made on completion of the works and the satisfaction of the client and 
Council following receipt of invoices / claim form / other relevant certification e.g. minor 
works certificate. Payment to be made direct to the contractor. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52



 

22 

Type of Assistance: 
Home Security Assistance Grant 

Purpose of Assistance 
 
The purpose of the grant is to enable improvements of security to  
 

 Eliminate Category 1 Hazards of Entry by Intruders 

 Improve security to a reasonable and safe level where occupants have genuine and 
reasonable concern for their safety as determined by the Council taking into consideration a 
history of threats, intimidation, violence, arson and other relevant matters 

 Enable persons to stay in their homes securely 
 
The assistance will be to provide  
 

 Intruder Alarms 

 Close Circuit Television up to 4 cameras externally 

 Outside lighting 

 Secure window locks 

 Secure door locks 

 Secure doors  

 Secure windows 

 Secure fabric of the building 
 

Amount (Maximum) 
 

 £3,000.00 
 

Eligibility 
 
Applicants must be eligible for one of the following to receive this assistance:- 
  

 Disabled Facilities Grant 

 Emergency Works Grant 

 Hospital Discharge Grant 

 Affordable Warmth Grant 
 
And meet the following conditions:- 
 

 All tenures 

 Vulnerable household – see Appendix A 

 Income – total households income not in excess of £25,000 

 Savings – total households savings under £25,000 
 

Method of Application 
 

 Application Form 

 at least two quotations 
 
 

Page 53



 

23 

Terms and Conditions 
 

 A fee of 15% will be charged 

 Work not to start prior to the consent of Hyndburn Borough Council 

 Works must be carried out by the contractor whose quotation accompanied the application 

 Payment will be made on completion of the works and the satisfaction of the client and 
Council following receipt of invoices / claim form / other relevant certification e.g. minor 
works certificate. Payment to be made direct to the contractor. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 54



 

24 

Type of Assistance: 
Group Repair / Face Lift 

Purpose of Assistance 
 

 Group repair or facelift works will be available to those invited by the Council to participate in 
specific, targeted schemes within geographical areas given priority as described in the Housing 
Capital Programme. 

 Works will normally form part of a regeneration or renewal scheme. 

 Group or face lift works will be to the exterior envelope of a terrace block to achieve either 
external improvement (group repair) or external repair (face lift), to terraces that are 
predominantly residential houses. 

 The works will comprise of works specified by the Council on a scheme by scheme basis and will 
take into account the nature of the scheme, what works are required and the cost of the works. 

 A group repair or facelift scheme will normally be to a terrace block and therefore will not 
normally be granted to individual dwellings  

 

Amount (Maximum) 
 

 Will vary on a scheme basis and will determined by the specification of works and the actual 
amount set aside in the Council’s capital programme. 

 

Eligibility 
 

 A person must have an owner’s interest in a property to take part in a scheme.   

 Private landlords and registered providers will normally be considered for inclusion but may not 
benefit from certain works which will be considered on a scheme by scheme basis. 

 Normally there will not be a means test for group repair / face lift works. 
 

Method of Application 
 

 By prescribed application form  
 

Terms and Conditions 
 

 The Council will issue a Scheme Consent form which will include the specification of works and 
related terms and conditions.  No works will start until the Scheme Consent has been signed and 
returned to the Council. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55



 

25 

Type of Assistance: 
Relocation Assistance  (including Equity Share Loan where appropriate) 

Purpose of Assistance 
Relocation Assistance will be for one of the following purposes: 
 

 To assist a household to relocate and acquire alternative living accommodation within  a 
specified area, but only in the following circumstances: 
 
o The Council has acquired, or proposes to acquire (whether compulsory or otherwise), a 

person’s existing accommodation 
o The Council is satisfied that the acquisition of other living accommodation would provide 

for the person a benefit similar to that which would be provided by the existing / 
previous accommodation 

o Relocation assistance will only be paid to allow an applicant to purchase a replacement 
dwelling within the borough of Hyndburn.  Exceptional cases, where it is considered 
appropriate to allow an applicant to relocate outside of Hyndburn, will be determined by 
the Head of Regeneration and Housing in consultation with the Executive Member for 
Housing and Regeneration 
 

 Where it is proposed to demolish property comprising or include living accommodation 
 

 To assist households where the Council has deemed to acquire accommodation as described 
above to relocate to appropriate housing 

 

Amount (Maximum) 
 
The form of assistance will be assessed taking into account three elements: 
 
1. The open market value or Compulsory Purchase Compensation paid for the property acquired 

from the assisted person by the Council (Compensation) 
2. The amount of Home Loss Payment that reflects the statutory minimum in force at the time that 

is payable to the assisted person. 
3. The value of a replacement property 

 
An Equity Share Loan will be the amount of additional money the Council may consider paying to 
assist an owner move to suitable, alternative accommodation. The amount will shall not exceed  
£40,000 and will be held as a mortgage on the new home after displacement in favour of 
Hyndburn Borough Council 

 
 

  

Page 56



 

26 

Eligibility 
Equity Loan: 
 

 The Council may resolve when making a formal resolution to purchase a dwelling for the 
purpose of demolition, redevelopment, improvement or any other purpose, to allow 
occupiers of properties subject to that resolution, to apply for assistance to purchase a 
replacement property for their own occupation in accordance with the provisions of this 
Policy. 

 The Council may resolve that such assistance may be available in the case of properties that 
are purchased by others on behalf of the Council. 

 A person is eligible to apply for an Equity Share for Relocation if he/she holds an owners 
interest and was resident in a property in an area subject to a resolution as described above 
at the date upon which the resolution was made, and remains in residence until the date of 
the Council taking ownership of property. 

  A person is eligible to apply for an Equity Share for Relocation if he/she has been a tenant 
and was resident in a property in an area subject to a resolution as described above at the 
date upon which the resolution was made, and remains in residence until the date of the 
Council taking ownership of property.  A formal tenancy agreement must be produced. 

 

Method of Application 
 

 The application for an Equity Share for Relocation must be in the form set out by the 
Council, providing the details required by the Council. 

 The application must be accompanied by such details about the replacement property as 
required by the Council. 

 The Council will require the owner to provide evidence of his interest in the dwelling from 
which he/she is to be displaced from. 
 

Terms and Conditions 
 

 The displaced person may purchase a replacement property within the Borough of 
Hyndburn.  Exceptional cases, where it is considered appropriate to allow an applicant to 
relocate outside of Hyndburn, will be determined by the Head of Housing in consultation 
with the Executive Member for Housing and Regeneration 

 To be eligible to apply for an Equity Share for Relocation, the applicant must be purchasing 
an owner’s interest in a replacement property. 

 The replacement property shall be of the same number of bedrooms as the property from 
which the household was displaced. 

 The replacement property must be in good repair or the applicant may use part of the Equity 
Share for Relocation to carry out any repairs and improvements agreed by the Council. 

 The Equity Share will be interest free. 

 The Council will take security for the loan (Equity Share) by registering a charge for the 
amount of the loan on the property to which the assisted person moves (the replacement 
property) as a consequence of the Council buying their existing home. 

 No instalments will be payable on the loan.  The Council will calculate the value of the loan 
as a proportion of the acquisition cost.  Repayment of the loan will be by payment of the 
same percentage of the open market value of the property at the time the loan becomes 
repayable. 

 The loan will become repayable: 
i. Upon sale or transfer of the replacement property 

Page 57



 

27 

ii. Before the sale or transfer if the loan terms are breached or the assisted person 
dies 

iii. At any time should the assisted person choose to repay the loan 

 The Council may refuse to offer a Relocation Assistance Equity Share Loan if the Council is 
satisfied that there is insufficient equity in the replacement home to provide a reasonable 
prospect of repayment of the loan or that suitable arrangements cannot be made so as to 
give priority to the charge securing  the loan.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 58



 

28 

Type of Assistance: 
Empty Homes:   

i) Repayment Loan, 
ii) Empty Homes Equity Loan, 
iii) Empty Homes Grant  

Purpose of Assistance 
 
Empty Homes Assistance will be available to private sector owners, (including potential landlords) to 
facilitate the completion of essential repairs and renovation works required to bring an empty 
property back into use. 
 
Eligible Works – to be eligible, works must be agreed with the Council and aimed at bringing the 
property back into use. 

Amount (Maximum) 
 
Empty Homes Repayment Loan - 100% of costs up to a maximum of £ 15,000 inclusive of agency fees 
 
Empty Homes Equity Loan – 100% of costs up to a maximum of £ 25,000 inclusive of agency fees 
 
Empty Homes Grant - 100% of costs up to a maximum of £ 7,000 inclusive of agency fees 
 

Eligibility 
 

 Subject to available funding 

 Assistance will be available to owner occupiers who, following completion of the works, 
intend to either: 
o Sell the property 
o Rent the property  
o Occupy the property as their only and principle home 

 

 Assistance will be offered where the property has been empty for a minimum of 6 months or 
longer 

  

Method of Application 
 

 Application Form 
 

  

Page 59



 

29 

Terms and Conditions 
General 

 Fee charged at 15% of cost of works 

 Schedule of works to be agreed by the Council 

 Works not to start prior to the consent of the Council 

 The Council will require all works to be completed within 6 months from the date assistance is 
approved 

 Works must be carried out by the contractor who’s quotation accompanied the application 

 Payment will be made on completion of the works to the satisfaction of the Council and receipt 
of invoices and other relevant certification and guarantees 

 The contract for works is between the applicant and the contractor 

 Payment will be paid direct to the contractor 
 
Empty Homes Repayment Loan 

 The loan will be interest free 

 The loan repayment period will be a maximum of 5 years 

 Repayment of the loan is made by instalments that will be set at rates that are agreed with the 
assisted person and assessed so as not to cause hardship 

 The balance of the loan shall be repayable : 
o On the sale or transfer of the dwelling 
o On the death of the assisted person 
o The assisted person may choose to repay the loan at any time 

 
Empty Homes Equity Loan 

 The Council will offer an empty Homes Equity Loan where the value of the works exceeds £5,000 

 The Council will take security for the loan by a charge on the property 

 The Council must be satisfied that the assisted person has sufficient equity in the property to 
repay the loan and will undertake the appropriate investigations and checks in such regard. 

 The loan will be interest free 

 The Council will determine the open market value of the empty property before the repair and 
renovation works are carried out and will calculate the amount of the loan as a percentage of 
the then open market value.  Repayment of the loan will be by payment of the same percentage 
of the open market value of the property at the time that the loan becomes repayable.  In the 
even that this amount is lower than the original loan, the minimum repayment sum will be the 
amount of the original loan plus the administration charge. 

 Repayment of the loan will be required under the following circumstances, whichever occurs 
soonest: 

o On sale or transfer of the dwelling 
o On the death of the assisted person, or where there are joint owners the death of the 

last survivor of them 
o After 10 years from the date that the loan was approved 
o Any breach of the terms of the loan which are not remedied 

 The assisted person may choose to repay the loan at any time.  Only the full amount of the loan 
may be repaid and payments of part or parts will not be permitted. 

 Where the assisted person dies or the property is sold during the lifetime of the loan, the 
Council will recover the loan from the estate of the deceased, or from the proceeds of the sale. 

 
Empty Homes Grant 

 The Council will offer an empty homes grant up to the value of £7,000. 
  

Page 60



 

30 

APPENDIX A 

Hyndburn Housing Renewal Policy 

Vulnerability Eligibility Criteria  

Households will be eligible for funding if they meet at least one of the following 

vulnerabilities defined as follows. 

Vulnerabilities: 

 people with a diagnosed cardiovascular conditions 

 people with a diagnosed respiratory conditions (in particular, chronic 

obstructive pulmonary disease and childhood asthma) 

 people with diagnosed mental health conditions 

 people with diagnosed disabilities 

 older people (65 and older) 

 households with (young) children (up to the age of 5) 

 pregnant women 

 people who are terminally ill 

 people with suppressed immune systems (e.g. from cancer treatment or HIV) 

 people who have mobility issues and have attended hospital due to a fall 

 people who suffer from dementia or have visual impairments 

 

The following vulnerable groups will be considered on referral from a professional 

organisation 

 people who move in and out of homelessness 

 people with addictions 

 Recent immigrants and refugees. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2 
 

1 of 5 

 

 

Hyndburn Borough Council 
 
Customer First Analysis 
 
Housing Renewal Policy 
(Cabinet Report 17 July 2019) 

 
 

1. Purpose 
 

 What are you trying to achieve with the policy / service / function? 
 

The overall aim of the this Policy is to encourage home owners and landlords to invest in their 
own property and to target available funds towards the most vulnerable households living in the 
worst housing conditions and within areas of market weakness.  In particular, public funds will 
be utilised to meet the Council’s objectives to support independent living, increasing levels of 
fitness and decency, targeting empty homes and alleviating fuel poverty and excess cold.  
 
The aims of the policy are to:- 
 
• Improve housing conditions across the borough 
• Reduce the number of vulnerable households living in sub-decent housing 
• Reduce the number of vacant homes 
• Adapt homes for people with disabilities 
• Tackle fuel poverty and improve energy efficiency 
• Achieve improvements in condition and management in the private rented sector 
 
And subsequently reduce health inequalities that are a consequence of poor housing 
conditions. 

 

 Who defines and manages it? 
 

The Regulatory Reform (England and Wales) (Housing Assistance) Order 2002 (the RRO) 
grants a general power on local authorities to provide “assistance” “in any form” “to any person”, 
to improve, repair, adapt or rebuild residential premises. 
 
The RRO reflects the view that it is primarily the responsibility of private sector owners to 
maintain their own property but it recognises that some owners, particularly the elderly and 
most vulnerable, do not have the necessary resources to repair or improve their homes.  Local 
authorities therefore, subject to resources, have an important role to play in providing 
assistance in these cases. 

 

 Who do you intend to benefit from it and how? 
 

The aim will be to provide assistance to vulnerable households including the elderly and 
disabled and those with limited resources. 
 
Disabled Facility Grants will benefit households that contain a disabled member where 
adaptations have been assessed by an Occupational Therapist as being necessary to meet 
their need and to help support the household to continue to live independently. 
 

Page 63



APPENDIX 2 
 

2 of 5 

Additional assistance / interventions will be available to households who meet the following 
vulnerability criteria:- 
 
• people with a diagnosed cardiovascular conditions 
• people with a diagnosed respiratory conditions (in particular, chronic obstructive 

pulmonary disease and childhood asthma) 
• people with diagnosed mental health conditions 
• people with diagnosed disabilities 
• older people (65 and older) 
• households with young children (up to the age of 5) 
• pregnant women 
• people who are terminally ill 
• people with suppressed immune systems (e.g. from cancer treatment or HIV) 
• people who have mobility issues and have attended hospital due to a fall 
 
The following vulnerable groups will be considered on referral from a professional organisation 
 
• people who move in and out of homelessness 
• people with addictions 
• Recent immigrants and refugees. 
 
Subject to funding support may also be available to assist in the relocation of households as a 
result of the Council’s regeneration and growth plans and to private owners to bring empty 
homes back onto use. This assistance will be subject to eligibility criteria. 
 

 

 What could prevent people from getting the most out of the policy / service / function? 
 

Lack of awareness of the types of assistance available and the availability of funding. 
 

 How will you get your customers involved in the analysis and how will you tell people about it? 
 

Working with partners we aim to provide information and advice to assist any person to 
improve, repair, adapt or rebuild residential premises. In doing so, we may enter into 
partnership arrangements with Registered Providers, the private sector, the voluntary sector, 
home improvement agencies, health, other local authorities and fuel poverty and energy 
efficiency partnerships and collaborations. 
 
Details of assistance will be available on the Council website. A full copy of the policy will be 
available to the public free at the council offices and a summary document available on request. 

 
 
2. Evidence 
 

 How will you know if the policy delivers its intended outcome / benefits? 
 

Assistance will be targeted and provided to the most vulnerable households as per the aims of 
the policy and detailed above. For example households in receipt of affordable warmth grants 
that will improve the energy efficiency and thermal comfort of their homes - this will also 
improve their health.  
 

 How satisfied are your customers and how do you know? 
 

Page 64



APPENDIX 2 
 

3 of 5 

Households will be required to sign a certificate to say they are satisfied with the work and 
standard of works completed. Customer survey / satisfaction surveys may also be completed. 

 

 What existing data do you have on the people that use the service and the wider population? 
 
It is well evidenced that poorly maintained homes negatively impact on physical and mental 
health. Effective interventions can: 
 
• help prevent people being admitted to hospital 
• help people to be discharged from hospital 
• support people to remain independent in the community 
 
Hyndburn has not undertaken a recent House Condition Survey. However pages on the 
Lancashire CC Insight website https://www.lancashire.gov.uk/lancashire-insight/ contain a 
wealth of data on area profiles, health and social care, deprivation, wellbeing etc that gives 
information at a district and ward level. 

 

 What other information would it be useful to have?  How could you get this? 
 

There is a wealth of information relating to poor house conditions and its impact particularly on 
health and well-being. This is freely available online and through nationally published reports. 
 
Gathering of information on the groups of vulnerable households assisted will help in targeting 
assistance and interventions. 

 

 Are you breaking down data by equality groups where relevant (such as by gender, age, 
disability, ethnicity, sexual orientation, marital status, religion and belief, pregnancy and 
maternity)? 

 
This information is collected on the application form and recorded on a data monitoring form. 

 

 Are you using partners, stakeholders, and councillors to get information and feedback? 
 

The Council and partners that we work with to deliver the assistance will gather this information. 
Feedback and case studies will detail the benefits of the interventions. 

 
 
3. Impact 
 

 Are some people benefiting more – or less - than others?  If so, why might this be? 
 

The types of assistance have eligibility criteria that are targeted at the most vulnerable 
households and those with limited resources. These households are most disadvantaged in 
terms of their health and housing conditions so the interventions will have a greater impact. 

 
4. Actions 
 

 If the evidence suggests that the policy / service / function benefits a particular group – or 
disadvantages another - is there a justifiable reason for this and if so, what is it? 

 
The types of assistance are targeted at the most vulnerable groups i.e. people with physical or 
mental health conditions, older people, or families with young children, These households are 
likely to be spending more time at home therefore spending more of their disposable income 

Page 65

https://www.lancashire.gov.uk/lancashire-insight/


APPENDIX 2 
 

4 of 5 

on heating and maintaining their homes. They may have to limit the time they have the heating 
on in order to be able to afford it. By making their homes more energy efficient the households 
should have more disposable income to spend on keeping themselves warmth and safe in their 
own homes.   

 

 Is it discriminatory in any way? 
 

No this is to benefit the most vulnerable people in the Borough so that the number living in sub-
decent housing is reduced, the fuel poverty inequality gap is reduced and housing conditions 
across the borough are improved. 

 

 Is there a possible impact in relationships or perceptions between different parts of the 
community? 

 
None envisaged. 
 
 

 What measures can you put in place to reduce disadvantages? 
 

Ensure the availability of assistance is well publicised to vulnerable households.  
 
Recording and analysis of service users accessing support by vulnerability group so we can 
identify where targeted promotion maybe needed for those not taking up assistance.  

 

 Do you need to consult further? 
 

No 
 

 Have you identified any potential improvements to customer service? 
 

Not at present. As the types of assistance are introduced improvements in customer service 
will be integral to their delivery 

 

 Who should you tell about the outcomes of this analysis? 
 

Hyndburn BC via monitoring undertaken. 
 

 Have you built the actions into your Business Plan with a clear timescale? 
 

Not applicable 
 

 When will this assessment need to be repeated? 
 

When and if the nature of the policy and interventions change significantly. 
 
 

 

Name:  FIONA GOODFELLOW   Signed:  
 
Service Area:  REGENERATION & HOUSING Dated : 28th June 2019 

 

Page 66



APPENDIX 2 
 

5 of 5 

If applicable, please attach copy of – or website link to - the Cabinet report for reference. 
 
 

Don’t forget to return your written record to HR. 
 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 17 July 2019 

PORTFOLIO: Councillor Jenny Molineux – Health and Communities 

REPORT AUTHOR: Joanne Wolfendale, HR Manager 

TITLE OF REPORT: Workplace Cycle Pool Scheme 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To seek approval for the implementation of a workplace cycle pool scheme. 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 That the implementation of a workplace cycle pool scheme as outlined in Appendix 1 is 

approved. 
 
2.2 That the cycle storage located at the Markets be relocated to Scaitcliffe House to provide 

secure cycle storage. 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 The Access Fund Team at Lancashire County Council offers grants to businesses of up to a 

maximum of £5,000 which can fund schemes such as cycle parking/storage and/or promotion, 
walking or cycling promotion and awareness campaigns. 

 
3.2 An application was submitted for the grant during 2018 for 4 cycles, 2 standard cycles and 2 

electric cycles. The grant was approved and we received £2745 in order to purchase the 
cycles and equipment from a local retailer. 

 
3.3 The aim of the cycle pool is to encourage employees to use cycles for business use as an 

alternative to using their vehicles and also potentially to exercise at lunchtimes to improve 
health and wellbeing.  The benefits of this scheme would be that some journeys can be made 
more quickly with no need to locate parking, there are health benefits from the physical activity 
of cycling including reducing the risk of strokes, diabetes and stress which ultimately improves 
the health of the workforce and leads to fewer absences. There would also be financial savings 
due to a reduction in car mileage expenses. Cycling is more environmentally friendly, reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions, contributing to improvements in air quality and reducing 
congestion. It also leads by example to our residents and businesses showing that the Council 
is committed to reducing harmful emissions and making greener travel choices. Page 69

Agenda Item 8.



 
4 Consultation 
 
4.1 As recommended by CMT, a drop in information session was held in November for any staff 

interested in the scheme.  
 
4.2 A survey was sent to staff who regularly use a vehicle for work purposes to gather views on the 

use of cycles for work activities. 
 
4.3 Of the 10 staff who responded. 6 believe that some or a few work related trips could be made 

by cycle. All believed that the cycle pool is a good idea with 6 stating they would be willing to 
use a work cycle. Factors that would discourage staff are poor weather conditions, fitness 
levels and the need to carry work equipment. From those who responded to the question on 
where they would prefer the cycles to be stored, the majority stated at Scaitcliffe House which 
is to be expected as the majority are based at Scaitcliffe.  

 
4.4 We asked for the views of staff who regularly cycle to and from work about where and how 

they would like cycles to be stored. The 3 regular cyclists all indicated that they would prefer a 
secure covered or closed enclosure away from public or passing pedestrians in an area 
covered by CCTV, the area near the staff car park was the preferred choice of all 3. 

 
5.  Cycle Storage 
 
5.1 At present, there is no secure cycle storage at Scaitcliffe House. The current cycle storage 

located at the Markets will be removed due to being identified as a potential terrorist threat. 
Rather than purchasing new storage, these cycle shelters can be relocated. There will be 
minimal cost to removing and securing the shelters on site at Scaitcliffe House. There will be 
an additional cost to fitting an external power point for the electric cycles and connecting this to 
the existing AVC unit (estimated at £300). 

 
6. Cycle Pool Scheme 
 
6.1 Scheme guidelines have been drawn up and these are attached in Appendix 1. 
 
7. Cycle Maintenance 
 
7.1 The cycles will be classed as fleet vehicles and be maintained 6 monthly by CVMU. 
 
8. Insurance 
 
8.1 The insurance company has been notified and confirmed that employees using cycles would 

be covered the same as any other business use under public and employee liability insurance.  
 
8.2 Insurers stated that if an employee using their own cycle has an accident where there is an 

injury or damage to a third party then HBC could be vicariously liable.  There would be a duty 
to carry out the appropriate risk assessments and cycle maintenance on individuals own 
cycles. Therefore, it should be recommended that staff using their own cycles for 
commuting/personal use or on Council business ensure they have adequate insurance of their 
own or alternatively, use the Council’s cycles. 

 
9. Training 
 Page 70



9.1 The Govelo bikeability scheme works with LCC, and they have agreed to provide cycle training 
outside the building (Waterside Offices) in addition to cycle maintenance classes at no cost. 

 
9.2 The scheme will ask those that are using the cycles for business use to undergo cycle training 

prior to using the cycles. Those who wish to use the cycles for recreational/wellbeing use for 
example, during lunch times, will be asked to sign a self-declaration form. 

 
10. Risk Assessments 
 
 Risk Assessments have been undertaken and are attached in Appendix 3. 
 
11. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
11.1 As detailed above. 
 
12. Consultations 
 
12.1 Staff have been consulted (see S4 of report) and an article placed in Hyndsight. 
 
13. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

The cycles themselves are fully funded and 
covered by the Council’s insurance. There 
will be a cost to relocating the cycle storage 
and fitting an external power point (outlined in 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

N/A 
 

Assessment of risk 
 

Risk assessment will be kept up to date and 
employees required to attend training or sign 
a self-declaration, depending on their use. 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

N/A 

 
14. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  N/A 
 

Page 71

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


 

 
  

 
Workplace Bicycle Pool Scheme – Guidelines 
 

1. Background 
 
In recognition of the health and environmental benefits of cycling, the Council is committed to 
promoting the use of bicycles for short journeys on Council business, cycling to work, and cycling for 
pleasure. 
 
These guidelines provide rules on the use of the pool bicycles.  Failure to agree to or follow these 
rules may result in you being barred from using the pool bicycles.  
 
Before using the pool bicycles, you must read and understand: 

 the sections of the highways code relevant to cyclists: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/the-highway-code/rules-for-cyclists-59-to-82; and 

 these cycling guidelines; and 

 sign a declaration that you have done so. 
 
2. Your safety 
 
The Council considers the safety of its employees to be of primary importance and you must also 
take responsibility for your personal safety. 
 
It is a condition of using the pool bicycles that, when cycling on Council business, you always: 
 

 Wear a helmet (your own). 

 Use front and rear bicycle lights whenever light or visibility is poor. 

 Wear reflective clothing (the Council will provide this). 

 Wear suitable clothing and secure any loose clothing. 

 Consult your GP first if you have any medical problems which may be affected by cycling. 

 If you need to take equipment, carry it securely in the panniers provided. 

 Notify your manager or colleagues on the route you are taking and the expected return time. 

 Ensure you have emergency telephone numbers with you in case these are needed.  

 If you are involved in an accident, you must follow the normal Council process and record it on 
the accident form available from the K-Drive.  Report to a First Aider if appropriate.  
 

Before starting your journey plan your route carefully and consider using quieter roads, bridleways 
and parks (if cycling is permitted).  Let’s Bicycle Hyndburn provides a list of bicycle routes within the 
Borough (https://www.visitlancashire.com/dbimgs/HyndburnBicycleMap.pdf).  Bear in mind the 
following: 
 

 Road type – cyclists may wish to use routes which are more lightly trafficked and where 
vehicle speeds may be less. 

 Your aptitude as a cyclist. 

Appendix 1 

Page 72

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/the-highway-code/rules-for-cyclists-59-to-82
https://www.visitlancashire.com/dbimgs/HyndburnCycleMap.pdf


 Availability of signed bicycle routes. 

 Take precautions when cycling remote routes, or after dark. 

 It is illegal to bicycle on the pavement unless signage specifies otherwise. 

 Non-compliance with Highway legislation resulting in a fine will be payable by the cyclist not 
the Council. 

 
The Council holds public liability insurance which will provide cover for individuals whilst acting on 
behalf of the Council on work related trips. 
 
You are encouraged to take advantage of training available through Go Velo bicycle training run in 
conjunction with Lancashire County Council. 
 
3. Pool bicycle security 
 
The pool bicycles will be secured and housed at Scaitcliffe House when not in use. 
 
You must: 
 

 securely lock the bicycle when not in use.  

 after using it,  secure the bicycle in the bicycle storage and return keys to HR at Scaitcliffe 
House 

 immediately report any loss of or faults in the bicycle and safety equipment.  
 
The Council will provide insurance in respect of the theft of the bicycle providing there is evidence of 
the loss by forcible or violent means.  It will therefore be necessary for staff to take adequate security 
measures, for the insurance to be effective e.g. secured by the locks provided to a fixed object when 
not in use away from the building.   
 
4. Pool bicycle maintenance and checks 
 
Before use you must carry out a bicycle check as detailed in the pre bicycle checklist. 
 
The pool bicycles provided by the Council will be maintained by a qualified bicycle mechanic in 
CVMU at least every 6 months. 
 
You must report any damage that occurs to HR. 
 
5. Using your own bicycle 
 
If you use your own bicycles for commuting/personal use or on Council business, you should ensure 
that you have adequate insurance of your own.  This is usually provided under a household insurance 
policy which should be extended to cover private and business cycling.  Alternatively a specific pedal 
bicycle policy can be obtained through many insurance companies or bicycle organisations. 
 
6. Management of the bicycle pool 

 
The bicycle pool will be coordinated by HR.  
 
Employees can book the bicycle through the calendar on outlook.  This can be in slots of morning, 
lunchtime or afternoon sessions. 
  

Page 73



 

 
 

Workplace Bicycle Pool Scheme 
Employee Declaration / Agreement 

 
 

 
All users must sign a copy of this agreement before pool bicycle use. 
 
1. I accept responsibility for the bicycle and accessories, all of which must be returned in the 

same condition at the end of use as received at the start, normal wear and tear excepted.  
 
2. I understand that cycling is not risk free but with careful use of the equipment, injury to riders 

and third parties can be avoided.   
 

3. I understand that the bicycle and accessories are provided for personal transport use only and 
are not to be used for any other purpose, including but not limited to racing, mountain biking, 
stunt or trick riding, or carrying other passengers. 
 

4. I agree to take care when using bicycles. 
 
5. I have both the physical fitness and the reasonable competence to ride a bicycle. 
 
6. I will wear a cycling helmet when using the bicycles in addition to hi-visual aids such as a vest, 

armband or ankle straps so I can be clearly seen. 
 
7. Whilst using the public highway, I will observe the Highway Code. 

 
8. If cycling off road, I will keep to public rights-of-way where cycling is permitted and exercise 

due care to all other users. 
 

9. I agree to use any bicycle I borrow in compliance with all relevant laws and to take proper care 
and precautions to avoid damage to the bicycle and damage or injury to any other person or 
property. 

 
10. I agree not to leave any bicycle unattended unless it is first secured to a fixed object using the 

bicycle padlock provided through the frame and where possible also the front wheel. 
 

11. I will report any crime where a bicycle is involved to HR as soon as possible and to the Police. 
Hyndburn Borough Council will require a crime reference number. 
 

For personal use only 
12. No responsibility will be accepted by Hyndburn Borough Council for loss, damage, or injury to 

the hirer, fellow riders, or a third party and/or their third party property, occurring during the 
usage period. 

 

Borrower's name: 
 

 Date:  

Signature of borrower:  
  

   

Page 74



 

 
 

Appendix 2 

P
age 75



 

 
Risk Assessment Details: Use of Pool  Cycles    Probability X Severity = Total = Risk Rating 
          

N
o 

Hazard Existing Control Measures Prob Sev Total Risk Action Required 

 
1 

 
PPE 

 

 Officer to wear suitable outdoor clothes to 
match the weather conditions. 

 Suitable footwear must be worn. 

 Helmet, & Hi-Viz aids (eg, hi-vis vests, arm 
bands, , ankle strips) to be worn when cycling 
 

2 2 4 Low  
 

 
2 

 
Equipment Failure 

 

 The bicycle to have a visual check, before every 
ride to make sure the wheels, chain, gears, 
brakes+ cables are in good condition (check list 
to be provided). 

 Any defects to be reported to HR or your line 
manager and taken to C.V.M.U for repair. 

 Riders to take responsibility for own helmets. 
Visual checks to be made to ensure that there 
are no cracks, splits and that the straps are not 
frayed. 

 C.V.M.U cycle fleet maintenance and inspect 
the bicycle every 6 months 

 Enquire about cycle maintenance training. 

2 2 4 Low  
  

 
3 

 
Weather Conditions  

 

 Officer to access the conditions before choosing 
to cycle.  

 Officer to wear suitable outdoor clothes to 
match the weather conditions.  

 Front & rear lights to be used if cycling in dark 
or low light conditions 

 

   2 1 3 Low  
 

Appendix 3 

P
age 76



 

 
 
4 

 
 
Surface Conditions  

 
 

 Officer to inspect the condition of the 
wheels/tread so that they are suitable for the 
surface to be cycled on. 

 Be aware of debris on the surface to be cycled 
on ie tree branches, bricks or stones, glass. 

 Officer not to cycle when icy or in freezing or 
snowy conditions 

 

 
  1 

 
1 

 
2 

 
 
Low 

 

 
5 

 
Working in isolation 
 
 
 
 

 

 All employees using cycles should carry with 
them a mobile phone and have contact numbers 
for manager/hr and emergency services.  

 Estimated time of return must be recorded on 
office board or reported to manager 

 Ensure that you have told line manager the 
proposed route before setting off.  
 

3 1 4 Low  

 
7 

 
Cycling 

 
 

 Employees must be fit and able to cycle and 
fully aware of the highway code. 

 Employees using the cycles for business use 
must have achieved cycle proficiency standard 
or must attend a cycle proficiency course. 

 Be aware of other users on the paths and show 
consideration when passing by. The use of a 
bell to alert other users of your presence. 
(pedestrians, cyclists dogs & horses) 

 Cycle at a suitable speed that takes into count 
the weather & surface conditions and also other 
users. 
 
 
 

1 1 2 Low  

   All employees must have access to a mobile   2 2 4 Low  

P
age 77



8 Falls from bicycle phone and have contact numbers for 
manager/HR and emergency services. 

 All accidents/ Incidents to be reported. 
 

 
10 

 
Security/ Theft   

 User to ensure the cycle is securely locked in 
the cycle storage lockers. 

 Cycle not to be left unattended, without chaining 
to suitable and secure location. 

 Cycle lock to be provided and used.  
 

1 1 2 Low  

 

P
age 78


	Agenda
	3. Minutes of Cabinet
	Minutes

	4. Minutes of Boards, Panels and Working Groups
	Minutes

	6. Overview and Scrutiny Work Programmes
	7. Housing Renewal Policy
	Housing Renewal Policy Final Document
	Housing Renewal Policy Customer First Analysis

	8. Workplace Cycle Pool Scheme

